Modelling and Analysis of Lipid membranes subject to intra-membrane

viscous flows and membrane-substrate interactions

by

Zhe Liu

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Mechanical Engineering

University of Alberta

© Zhe Liu, 2020

Abstract

The mechanical responses of the lipid membranes and their mechanisms are of importance in the understanding of essential cellular functions such as budding, fission and vesicle formations. Inside the lipid bilayers, viscous flows play vital roles since they can influence the transportations of elements, the shapes of the lipid membranes and various cellular processes. Within the description of the continuum setting, lipid membranes can be idealized as continuous bilayer sandwich structures. Based on nonlinear elastic thin-film theory, this thesis presents the continuum-based models of lipid membranes subjected to intra-membrane viscous flows as well as interactions with the elliptical-cross-section substrates. The corresponding boundary conditions and shape equations of the membranes are formulated based on the principles of energy equilibrium law and virtual work statement. A careful derivation of the model is presented and utilized to obtain the exact analytical solutions. The solutions of the obtained shape equations in the form of Partial Differential Equations (PDEs) are obtained by using eigenfunction expansion and Mathieu function in the elliptical domain. This thesis also investigates the morphologies of lipid membranes impacted by the uniform, non-uniform and mixed types of viscous flows by modifying the obtained equilibrium equations. Finally, the thickness distension of membranes is considered, and the corresponding analytical solutions are obtained.

Preface

This main body of the thesis is composed of two peer-reviewed papers and one project.

Chapter 2 is mainly from the published paper Kim, C. I., & Zhe, L. Mechanics of Lipid Membranes under the Influence of intra-membrane Viscosity. *Math. Probl. Eng.* (2019).

Chapter 3 is mainly from the published paper Zhe, L. & Kim, C. I. Deformation analysis of lipid membranes subjected to general forms of intra-membrane viscous flow and interactions with an elliptical-cross-section substrate. *Sci. Rep.* **10**(1), 1-19 (2020).

Chapter 4 is mainly from the ongoing project related to the thickness distension of lipid membrane.

Acknowledgements

I heartfully thanks my supervisor - Dr. Chun Il Kim for his guidance, patience, and support during my graduate study. Under his supervision, I learned not only the solid knowledge related to continuum mechanics but also the work manner of perseverance, diligence and endeavour.

Besides, I am very grateful for my thesis committee: Dr. Peter Schiavone, Dr. Cagri Ayranci and Dr. Hyun-Joong Chung.

Finally, thank you, my parents and friends, for supporting me during this studying period.

Contents

A	bstra	let	ii		
Preface					
A	cknov	wledgements	iv		
\mathbf{C}	onter	nts	v		
Li	List of Figures				
Li	st of	$\mathbf{Symbols}$	x		
1 Introduction and Background					
	1.1	Introduction	1		
		1.1.1 Lipid membrane	1		
		1.1.2 Intracellular fluid	3		
		1.1.3 Membrane Transport	3		
	1.2	Background and motivation			
	1.3	Aims and Scope			
	1.4	Structure of the thesis	8		

CONTENTS

2	Invi	nviscid Fluid Membranes			
	2.1	Introd	luction	10	
	2.2	Basic	formulations related to surface geometry	11	
	2.3	Model	lling process	12	
3	Mo	delling	g of lipid membranes affected by general forms of intra-		
	membrane viscous flows and interactions with elliptical-cross-				
	section substrates				
	3.1	Introduction			
	3.2	Viscous lipid membranes		22	
	3.3	Incremental deformations of lipid membranes			
		3.3.1	Linearization of the intra-membrane viscosity terms	27	
		3.3.2	Formulations in the elliptical coordinates	30	
	3.4	Solutions to the linearized systems			
		3.4.1	Constant viscous flow potential: $w(\xi, \eta) = A$	38	
		3.4.2	Non-uniform viscous flow potential: $w(\xi, \eta) = A \sin \xi \cos \eta$		
			$(waveform) \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	42	
		3.4.3	Dual source problems: $w(\xi, \eta) = A + A \sin \xi \cos \eta$	46	
		3.4.4	Reduction to the circular lipid membrane problems	50	

4 Modelling of lipid membranes affected by general forms of intra-

CONTENTS

$membrane \ viscous \ flows, \ interactions \ with \ elliptical \ cross-section$

	substrates and thickness distensions			56
	4.1	Introduction		
	4.2	Inviscid lipid membranes with thickness distensions		
	4.3	Viscous lipid membranes with thickness distensions		
	4.4	Linear Analysis		64
		4.4.1	Linearization of the terms related to thickness distension $% \mathcal{L}^{(n)}$.	64
		4.4.2	Formulations in the elliptical coordinates	65
		4.4.3	Solutions to the linearized systems	65
5	Cor	Conclusions and future work		
	5.1	Conclusion		69
	5.2	Future	e Work	76
Bibliography				78
Appendix A. Copyright Demonstration				88

LIST OF FIGURES

1.1	The schematic picture of a fluid membrane model of the phospho-	
	lipid bilayer. (Picture taken from: © 2013 OpenStax College)	2
1.2	The schematic picture of a fluid membrane model of the phospho-	
	lipid bilayer. (Picture taken from: © 2013 OpenStax College)	4
2.1	The schematic of the membrane surface. (<i>Picture taken from: Be-</i>	
	lay, T. 2016)	13
3.1	Schematic of an elliptical cylinder substrate-membrane system	30
3.2	Schematic of the forces on the membrane's surface when viscous	
	flows go through	39
3.3	Number of wrinkles with respect to A and μc (inner radius: major	
	axis)	42
3.4	Comparisons:Number of wrinkles on thin polymer films. (Picture	
	taken from: Huang, J., et al. 2007) \ldots \ldots \ldots	43
3.5	Comparison with circular case (47 wrinkles in total). (<i>Picture taken</i>	
	from: Zeidi, M., et al. 2018)	44
3.6	Wave deformations of lipid membrane with respect to A	45
3.7	Transverse deflections of lipid membrane with respect to intra-	
	membrane viscous flows.	46

LIST OF FIGURES

3.8	Comparison with circular case. (Picture taken from: Zeidi, M., et	
	al. 2018)	47
3.9	Membrane shape evolutions with dual source viscous effects: $w(\xi, \eta) =$	
	$A + A\sin\xi\cos\eta$	50
3.10	Decomposed solutions of the shape evolution: $w = A$ (Left); $w =$	
	$A\sin\xi\cos\eta$ (Right)	51
3.11	Case study (Single source problem): experimental results compar-	
	isions. (Picture taken from: Zhao, Y., et al. 2011)	52
3.12	Case study (Dual source problem): experimental results compar-	
	isons. (Picture taken from: Zhao, Y., et al. 2011)	53
3.13	Comparison with existing models: membrane-circular substrate in-	
	teraction problem. (Picture taken from: Agrawal, A., et al. 2009)	54

LIST OF SYMBOLS

- ω : the two-dimensional surface we studied
- θ^1, θ^2 : the embedded surface coordinate
- r: the parametric position vector of a point on the surface $r = r(\theta^{\alpha})$
- n: the unit normal vector to the deformed elastic surface
- $\mathbf{a}_{\alpha}, \mathbf{a}_{\beta}$: the associated tangent vectors of the surface
- $a_{\alpha\beta}$: the surface metric/the first fundemental form
- $b_{\alpha\beta}$: the surface metric/the first fundemental form
- $a^{\alpha\beta}$: the dual metric component of $a_{\alpha\beta}$.
- $b^{\alpha\beta}$: the dual metric component of $b_{\alpha\beta}$.

a: $a = det(a_{\alpha\beta})$

- H: the Mean curvature of surface
- K: the Gaussian curvature of surface
- $\tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}$: the cofactor of the curvature
- \mathbf{T}^{α} : the stress vector
- F: the energy density per unit mass of the surface
- W: the energy density per unit area of the surface

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Lipid membranes are vital cellular tissues, which protect cell organelles, regulate the materials entering/exiting the cell, and facilitate the signalling among cells. The researches on the mechanical responses of the lipid membranes subjected to forces and flows are of much importance in the understanding of the mechanisms of such cellular activities. Since lipid membranes are very thin and fragile, experimental studies are very limited. Thus, mathematical models describing the mechanical responses of lipid bilayers can be effective alternatives. Due to the complex nature of lipid membranes, various interdisciplinary concepts and methods such as differential geometry, continuum mechanics, nonlinear surface theory, virtual work statement and energy minimizing principles are adopted in the mathematical modelling of lipid membranes.

1.1 Introduction

1.1.1 Lipid membrane

Lipid membranes (or lipid bilayers) are thin polar membranes composed of two layers of lipid molecules [1]. They form continuous barriers (typically between 5 and 10 nanometers) and separate the interior of the cells from the outside environments. The lipid bilayers can mediate cellular processes by regulating substances entering and leaving cells. They can also carry markers that allow cells to recognize each other and pass signals to other cells through receptors [2]. Furthermore, the lipid bilayer compositions of biomembranes are important for the distributions, organizations, and functions of membrane proteins and thus for various cellular functions [3].



Figure 1.1: The schematic picture of a fluid membrane model of the phospholipid bilayer. (*Picture taken from*: © 2013 OpenStax College)

As Figure 1.1 shows, the structure of the lipid membranes consists of the double layers of phospholipids with embedded, integral and peripheral proteins. The phospholipids are amphiphilic and have hydrophilic phosphate heads and hydrophobic tails consisting of two fatty acid chains. The packing of lipids within the membranes also influence their mechanical properties, including their resis-

tances to stretching and bending [4]. Various proteins and lipid structures are embedded peripheral or inside the membrane, such as glycoprotein, glycolipid, integral membrane proteins and cholesterols [5].

1.1.2 Intracellular fluid

The intracellular fluids, also known as cytosols, are the fluids contained inside the cells [6]. They are complex liquids comprising varying amounts of proteins, macromolecules, and electrolytes [7]. The intracellular fluids impact the morphologies of the lipid membranes in the processes of osmoses because of the osmotic pressures and viscosity forces.

1.1.3 Membrane Transport

Membrane transports refer to the processes that solutes (e.g., ions, small particles) are conveyed across biological membranes through the regulations of a series of membrane mechanisms such as active and passive transports [8]. A characteristic of lipid membrane - selective membrane permeability plays a vital role in the regulation of membrane transport because it enables membranes to separate substances of different chemical properties [8].

There are two main types of membrane transports: passive transport and active transport. Passive transport is the process that the elements (icons, molecules, proteins) pass through the lipid membrane without energy input. It is the



Figure 1.2: The schematic picture of a fluid membrane model of the phospholipid bilayer. (*Picture taken from*: © 2013 OpenStax College)

spontaneous phenomenon which decreases the free energy and increases the entropy of the cellular system. The organizations and properties of the membrane lipids and proteins affect the permeability of the cell membranes and furtherly the rate of passive transport. Diffusion, facilitated diffusion, osmosis and filtration are the four most common types of passive transport [9]. In contrast, the processes that the particles move across or through membranes from the lower concentration regions to the higher concentration regions are referred to as active transports. Cellular energy is required to achieve active transport [10]. There are two types of active transport, which are primary active transport and secondary active transport. The primary active transport utilizes a source of chemical energy (e.g., Adenosine Triphosphate (ATP)) as the power source, while the secondary active transport utilizes an electrochemical gradient [10].Endocytosis is also a form of membrane active transport. It refers to the substances transporting process in which cell membranes engulf the transported particles. The target particle to be internalized is surrounded by a part of the cell lipid membrane. Then, a vesicle enclosing the ingested particle is formed through the budding of the cell. As Figure 1.2 illustrates, endocytosis includes pinocytosis (cell drinking) and phagocytosis (cell eating) [11].

1.2 Background and motivation

From the discussions in the previous sections, it is apparent that the lipid membranes are critically important tissues in various cellular activities. The mechanical properties of the lipid membranes are affected by internal/external conditions, including the intra-membrane viscous flows, proteins or molecules interactions and various forces generated from the processes of different cellular activities. To understand the mysteries of the related cellular processes, it is necessary and vital to research on the mechanical properties and morphologies of the lipid membranes.

To understand the mechanisms of various essential cellular processes such as budding, fission and fusion [12]-[16], the mechanics of the lipid membranes has consistently been the popular research area. Since lipid membranes are negligibly thin (typically 5-10nm) and fragile, the study of various aspects of lipid bilayers is often achieved by employing mathematical models in order to overcome the formidable difficulties of experimental studies. Because lipid membranes are very densely distributed, they can be idealized as thin elastic films. Within this context, the development of theoretical models describing the behavior of lipid bilayers has greatly benefited from the differential geometry of a surface and the theory of an elastic surface such that the deformation energy of a thin membrane can be expressed by the mean and Gaussian curvatures of a surface [17]-[18]. In particular, Helfrich proposed a well-known Helfrich energy potential [12] which addresses the symmetry of lipid bilayers and further ensures the resulting equilibrium state to be energy minimizing [19]. This, together with the use of variational principle, and the virtual-work statement, furnish the Euler-Lagrange equations also known as "membrane shape equations", which have been successfully adopted in a wide range of problems (see, for example, [20]-[22]). The variations of the classical Helfrich model have been continuously investigated in order to provide more efficient descriptions of lipid membranes' morphology induce by various cellular activities, such as distensions [21], tilts [23], buddings [24]-[25], spontaneous curvatures [20] and substrate interactions [26]-[28].

To investigate the impacts of the intra-membrane viscous flows on the essential cellular functions, including budding, fission and vesicle formations [29]-[32], the study of the mechanical responses of lipid membranes subjected to intramembrane viscous flows is necessary. The authors in [33] have established the theoretical framework of the lipid membranes incorporating the effects of intramembrane viscosity. In there, authors reveal that the dynamics of the membrane system is notably influenced by the presence of intra-membrane viscous flow. The authors in [34] developed the integrated non-linear model of membranes incorporating the effects of intra-membrane viscosity from the theory of elastic surfaces [35]-[36]. Besides, a compatible linear model within the setting of superposed incremental deformations is presented by [37]. However, to obtain a mathematically tractable system, the analysis in [37] is limited to certain types of problems where viscous flow is characterized as either constant or simple linear functions, and the interaction occurs through a circular contact region. In contrast, the realistic lipid membrane system involves more complex environments [15]-[16], such as the non-circular contaction domain, multi-source viscous flow and membrane thickness distension. Therefore, the development of a more comprehensive model considering these processes may be necessary to promote researches in the related subjects. In this respect, the authors in [38] derived the membrane model, considering the distension phenomenon induced by possible external forces. The authors in [39] developed the nonlinear model of lipid membrane employing the thickness distension. However, considering the complexity of the realistic membrane system, the models that incorporate both viscosity and thickness distension are necessary to provide more general and precise descriptions of lipid membranes.

1.3 Aims and Scope

This thesis aims to develop the theoretical models to predict the morphologies of lipid membranes subjected to intra-membrane viscous flows and interactions with elliptical-cross-section substrates. In addition, the thickness distensions of the bilayers' surfaces will be considered and analyzed. Throughout careful derivations, the theoretical model of the inviscid fluid membrane will be developed. Then the model of the lipid membranes subjected to intra-membrane viscous flows and interactions with elliptical-cross-section substrates will be developed by incorporating the viscous stress and other interdisciplinary methods. The shape equations and corresponding boundary conditions of the membranes will be formulated and then solved analytically and numerically. After obtaining the exact solutions, we will input different types of viscous flows to the obtained solutions to investigate the detailed influences of the viscous flows on the morphologies of lipid membranes. The solutions and the associated morphologies of lipid membranes will be presented both in circular and elliptical domains and compared to the existed results. Lastly, the thickness distensions of membranes will be considered, and the corresponding analytical solutions will be obtained.

1.4 Structure of the thesis

This thesis consists of five main chapters. It is composed as follows. Chapter one is the introduction to introduce the research topic, background, aim and scope of this thesis. Chapter two is the chapter to develop the nonlinear model for the mechanical responses of the inviscid fluid membranes. Chapter three discusses the model which predicts the responses of lipid membranes subjected to intermembrane viscous flows and interactions with the elliptical-cross-section substrates. The theoretical solutions for this model are obtained, plotted and analyzed. Chapter four is the chapter to study the thickness distension phenomena of the lipid membranes. The conclusions of this research and future works are presented in Chapter five.

Throughout all chapters, we make use of several well-established symbols and conventions. Therefore, unless otherwise stated, Greek indices take the values in $\{1, 2\}$ and, when repeated, are summed over their ranges. Finally, $(*)_{,\alpha}$ expresses the derivative of '*' concerning a coordinate θ^{α} and W_K stands for the derivatives of a scalar-valued function W(K) concerning the parameter K.

CHAPTER 2

INVISCID FLUID MEMBRANES

In this chapter, we present the prerequisite knowledge of differential geometry and develop the underlying theoretical model of inviscid fluid membrane for further researches on the intra-membrane viscosity. By combining the theory of elastic surfaces, the membrane equilibrium equations and the corresponding projections on normal and tangential directions are formulated via rigorous derivations. The deformation energy of the membrane is accounted for by means of the Mean and Gaussian curvatures of the surface which are the functions of the first and second fundamental forms.

2.1 Introduction

In 1920s, E. Gorter and F. Grendel [40] found that the cell membranes are composed of lipid molecules (phospholipids) which are generally divided into two important groups: the hydrophilic head parts and hydrophobic tail groups. Later, in 1959, David Robertson [41] identified that the bilayer structure is characteristic of all biological membranes (biomembranes). The microstructures (lipid molecules) of lipid membranes are unique in that they are aligned to the normal direction of the membrane prior to the deformations. Within this prescription, lipid membranes can be regarded as a simple fluid membrane where its free energy is expressed as a function of Mean and Gaussian curvatures via the first $(a_{\alpha\beta})$ and second $(b_{\alpha\beta})$ fundamental forms. The concept has been widely and successfully adopted in the relevant subject of problems [42]-[45] where the microstructures of materials dominate the general mechanical responses.

In this chapter, we develop the underlying theoretical model of inviscid fluid membrane for further researches on the intra-membrane viscosity. In section 2.2, we present the basic formulations related to surface geometry (e.g., surface metric, coordinate configurations, definitions of curvatures) as the prerequisite knowledge of this modelling. Then the detailed derivations of this model are presented in section 2.3. Starting from the stress equilibrium equation, we obtain the membrane shape equations and their projections on normal and tangential directions via rigorous derivations. The deformation energy of the membrane is accounted for by means of the Mean and Gaussian curvatures of the surface which are the functions of the first and second fundamental forms.

2.2 Basic formulations related to surface geometry

The present modelling incorporates the configuration of differential geometry [46] regards to the morphology analysis of fluid membrane. In this framework, the two-dimensional surface we studied is defined by ω (see Figure 2.1). Then

it is parameterized by the embedded surface coordinate (θ^1, θ^2) . Therefore the parametric position vector $r \in R^3$ of a point on the surface can be defined by the projection $r = r(\theta^{\alpha})$. The coordination of the elastic surface is then given by $\mathbf{n}(\theta^{\alpha}) = (1/2)\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta}\mathbf{a}_{\alpha} \times \mathbf{a}_{\beta}$, where **n** is the unit normal vector to the deformed elastic surface ω , and \mathbf{a}_{α} and \mathbf{a}_{β} are the associated tangent vectors defined as $r_{,\alpha}(\theta^{\alpha}, t) =$ $\partial r/\partial \theta^{\alpha} = \mathbf{a}_{\alpha}$; $\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta} = e^{\alpha\beta}/\sqrt{a}$ represents the two-dimensional permutation tensor with $a = det(a_{\alpha\beta})$. $e^{\alpha\beta}$ can be evaluated as $e^{11} = e^{22} = 0$, $e^{12} = -e^{21} = 1$. Besides, $a_{\alpha\beta}$ is the induced surface metric with the relation $a_{\alpha\beta} = \mathbf{a}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{a}_{\beta}$, where the dot represents the Euclidean inner product. The matrix $a_{\alpha\beta}$ of the surface metric is a non-negative definite in general, with relation $a^{\alpha\beta} = (a_{\alpha\beta})^{-1}$, where $a^{\alpha\beta}$ is the matrix of dual metric components. The symmetric coefficients of the second fundamental form on ω is defined as $b_{\alpha\beta} = \mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{a}_{\alpha,\beta}$, from which we can obtain the dual metric of $b_{\alpha\beta}$ as $b^{\alpha\beta} = \mathbf{a}^{\alpha\lambda} \mathbf{a}^{\beta\mu} b_{\lambda\mu}$.

The formulations of Mean and Gaussian curvatures of surfaces are given as $H = \frac{1}{2}a^{\alpha\beta}b_{\alpha\beta}$ and $K = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon^{\lambda\mu}b_{\alpha\lambda}b_{\beta\mu}$, where $\tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}$ is the cofactor of the curvature with the relation: $\tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta} = 2Ha^{\alpha\beta} - b^{\alpha\beta}$.

2.3 Modelling process

The surface covariant differentiation defined by [46] is

$$\mathbf{a}_{\alpha;\beta} = \mathbf{a}_{\alpha,\beta} - \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{a}_{\lambda}, \qquad (2.1)$$



Figure 2.1: The schematic of the membrane surface. (*Picture taken from: Belay*, T. 2016)

where $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta} = \mathbf{a}_{\alpha,\beta} \cdot \mathbf{a}^{\lambda}$ are the Christoffel symbols induced by the local surface coordinate on ω and \mathbf{a}^{λ} is the dual basis, defined as

$$\mathbf{a}^{\alpha} = a_{\alpha\beta} \mathbf{a}_{\beta}. \tag{2.2}$$

Equations (2.1) and (2.2) furnish well know Gauss-Weigard equation:

$$\mathbf{a}_{\alpha,\beta} = (\mathbf{a}_{\alpha,\beta} \cdot \mathbf{a}^{\lambda})\mathbf{a}_{\gamma} + (\mathbf{a}_{\alpha,\beta} \cdot \mathbf{n})\mathbf{n} = \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta}\mathbf{a}_{\gamma} + b_{\alpha\beta}\mathbf{n}; b_{\alpha\beta} = \mathbf{a}_{\alpha,\beta} \cdot \mathbf{n}(\text{Gauss}), \text{ and } (2.3)$$

$$\mathbf{n}_{,\alpha} = (\mathbf{n}_{,\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{a}_{\beta})\mathbf{a}^{\beta} + (\mathbf{n}_{,\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{n})\mathbf{n} = -b_{\alpha\beta}\mathbf{a}^{\beta}; b_{\alpha\beta} = -\mathbf{n}_{,\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{a}_{\beta} (\text{Weingarten}), \quad (2.4)$$

where $b_{\alpha\beta}$ are the coefficient of the second fundamental form (curvature) and their symmetric properties can be seen as

$$b_{\alpha\beta} = -\mathbf{n}_{,\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{a}_{\beta} = \mathbf{a}_{\beta,\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{n} = b_{\beta\alpha}.$$
 (2.5)

Also, the contravariant cofactor of the curvature tensor is given by [46]

$$\tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta} = \varepsilon^{\alpha\lambda} \varepsilon^{\beta\gamma} b_{\lambda\gamma} \tag{2.6}$$

which is again symmetric (i.e., $\tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta} = \tilde{b}^{\beta\alpha}$) from the result of (2.5). We note here that (2.5) is valid for the sufficient smoothness of r up to the second-order (i.e., $r \in C$). Also, substituting (2.3) into (2.1) yields

$$\mathbf{a}_{\alpha;\beta} = b_{\alpha\beta}\mathbf{n}.\tag{2.7}$$

Within this prescription, the equilibrium state of a purely elastic surface, subjected to normal pressure p, is given by [35]

$$\mathbf{T}^{\alpha}_{;\alpha} + p\mathbf{n} = 0, \qquad (2.8)$$

where $\mathbf{T}_{;\alpha}^{\alpha}$ and \mathbf{n} are the stress vectors and the local surface unit normal, respectively. Further, the associated deformation energy of the surfaces can be expressed by the two primary parameters: the coefficient of the first fundamental form $a_{\alpha\beta}$ (the surface metric) and the second fundamental form $b_{\alpha\beta}$ (the curvature). In the case of fluid films whose energy density per unit mass of the surface is $F = F(a_{\alpha\beta}, b_{\alpha\beta}), T^{\alpha}$ takes the following compact form [35]:

$$\mathbf{T}^{\alpha} = (\sigma^{\beta\alpha} + b^{\beta}_{\mu}M^{\mu\alpha})\mathbf{a}_{\beta} - M^{\alpha\beta}_{;\beta}\mathbf{n}, \qquad (2.9)$$

and

$$\sigma^{\beta\alpha} = \rho(\frac{\partial F}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} + \frac{\partial F}{\partial a_{\beta\alpha}})$$

$$M^{\beta\alpha} = \frac{\rho}{2}(\frac{\partial F}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} + \frac{\partial F}{\partial b_{\beta\alpha}}).$$
 (2.10)

In a typical environment, where fluid films are subjected to morphological transitions, the reference velocity of the system is low and therefore the corresponding Reynolds numbers are sufficiently small [15], [16]. Further, it is widely accepted that lipid membranes are relatively stiff against areal dilation in comparison with bending or shear motions [13], [14]. This implies that deformations preserve surface area. In other words, fluid films are subjected to the two-dimensional incompressibility J = 1 which can be incorporated by replacing F as [35]

$$F = \overline{F} - \frac{\gamma}{\rho},\tag{2.11}$$

where \overline{F} , ρ , and γ are, respectively, a constitutive function, mass density, and the Lagrange-multiplier field associated with surface pressure;

$$\gamma = \rho^2 F_{\rho}.\tag{2.12}$$

The energy density per unit area of the surface ω is then defined by [34]

$$W(H, K, \rho; a_{\alpha\beta}, b_{\alpha\beta}) = \rho \overline{F}, \qquad (2.13)$$

where the expressions of Mean and Gaussian curvatures of surfaces (i.e., H and K) are given explicitly as [46]

$$H = \frac{1}{2}a^{\alpha\beta}b_{\alpha\beta}$$
 and $K = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon^{\alpha\beta}\varepsilon^{\lambda\mu}b_{\alpha\lambda}b_{\beta\mu}.$ (2.14)

In particular, K satisfies

$$b^{\alpha}_{\mu}\tilde{b}^{\mu\beta} = Ka^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (2.15)$$

which can be easily seen from (2.6). Therefore, we find $F = 1/\rho(W - \gamma)$ and subsequently obtain from (2.10) that

$$\sigma^{\beta\alpha} = \rho(\frac{\partial(1/\rho)(W-\gamma)}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} + \frac{\partial(1/\rho)(W-\gamma)}{\partial a_{\beta\alpha}})$$

and $M^{\beta\alpha} = \frac{\rho}{2}(\frac{\partial(1/\rho)(W-\gamma)}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} + \frac{\partial(1/\rho)(W-\gamma)}{\partial b_{\beta\alpha}}).$ (2.16)

Using chain rules, we evaluate

$$\rho(\frac{\partial(1/\rho)(W-\gamma)}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}}) = \rho[-\rho^{-2}\frac{\partial\rho}{\partial a^{\alpha\beta}}W + \frac{1}{\rho}(W_{\rho}\frac{\partial\rho}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} + W_{H}\frac{\partial H}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} + W_{K}\frac{\partial K}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}}) + \rho^{-2}\frac{\partial\rho}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}}\gamma - \frac{1}{\rho}\frac{\partial\gamma}{\partial\rho}\frac{\partial\rho}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}}], \quad (2.17)$$

where $W_H = \partial W / \partial H$ and similarly for other terms. The derivatives of ρ , H and K with respect to $a_{\alpha\beta}$ can be evaluated as [35]

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} &= -\frac{\rho}{2} a^{\alpha\beta}, \\ \frac{\partial H}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} &= -\frac{1}{2} b^{\alpha\beta} \\ \text{and } \frac{\partial K}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} &= -K a^{\alpha\beta}, \end{aligned}$$
(2.18)

Accordingly, (2.17) reduces to (e.g., $-\rho^{-2}(\partial\rho/\partial a_{\alpha\beta})W = -\rho^{-2}(-(\rho/2)a^{\alpha\beta})W$, etc.)

$$\rho(\frac{\partial(1/\rho)(W-\gamma)}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}}) = \rho[\frac{1}{2\rho}a^{\alpha\beta}W - \frac{1}{2}a^{\alpha\beta}W_{\rho} - \frac{1}{2\rho}b^{\alpha\beta}W_{H} - \frac{1}{\rho}W_{K}Ka^{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2\rho}a^{\alpha\beta}\gamma + \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\rho}a^{\alpha\beta}]. \quad (2.19)$$

Also from (2.12) and (2.13), F_{ρ} can be computed as $F_{\rho} = (W/\rho - \gamma/\rho)_{,\rho} = W_{\rho}/\rho - W/\rho^2 - \gamma_{\rho}/\rho + \gamma/\rho^2$, and thus it yields

$$W_{\rho} = \rho F_{\rho} + \frac{W}{\rho} + \gamma_{\rho} - \frac{\gamma}{\rho}$$
(2.20)

Substituting (2.20) into (2.19) furnishes

$$\rho(\frac{\partial(1/\rho)(W-\gamma)}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}}) = \left[-\frac{1}{2}b^{\alpha\beta}W_H - W_K K a^{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2}a^{\alpha\beta}\rho^2 F_\rho\right]$$
$$= -\frac{1}{2}\gamma a^{\alpha\beta} - (W_H H + W_K K)a^{\alpha\beta} + \frac{1}{2}W_H \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}, \quad (2.21)$$

In the above we make use of the identity $b^{\alpha\beta} = 2Ha^{\alpha\beta} - \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}$ from the Cayley-Hamilton theorem and $\rho^2 F_{\rho} = \gamma$ (see (2.12)). Therefore, from (2.21) and the symmetry of $a^{\alpha\beta}$ and $\tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}$, (2.10)₁ becomes

$$\sigma^{\beta\alpha} = (\lambda + W)a^{\alpha\beta} - (2W_H H + 2W_K K)a^{\alpha\beta} + W_H \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (2.22)$$

where

$$\lambda = -(\gamma + W). \tag{2.23}$$

Now, we evaluate $\rho(\partial(1/\rho)(W-\gamma)/\partial b_{\alpha\beta})$ as

$$\rho(\frac{\partial(1/\rho)(W-\gamma)}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}}) = \rho[-\rho^{-2}\frac{\partial\rho}{\partial b^{\alpha\beta}}W + \frac{1}{\rho}(W_p\frac{\partial\rho}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} + W_H\frac{\partial H}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} + W_K\frac{\partial K}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}}) + \rho^{-2}\frac{\partial\rho}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}}\gamma - \frac{1}{\rho}\frac{\partial\gamma}{\partial\rho}\frac{\partial\rho}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}}].$$
(2.24)

Since,

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = 0,$$

$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = \frac{1}{2}a^{\alpha\beta}$$
and
$$\frac{\partial K}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta},$$
(2.25)

Equation (2.24) becomes (e.g., $W_H(\partial H/\partial b_{\alpha\beta}) = W_H(1/2)a^{\alpha\beta})$

$$\frac{\partial (1/\rho)(W-\gamma)}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = \frac{1}{2} W_H a^{\alpha\beta} + W_K \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}.$$
(2.26)

Invoking (2.26) and $(2.10)_2$ furnishes

$$M^{\beta\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} W_H a^{\alpha\beta} + W_K \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (2.27)$$

where $b_{\alpha\beta} = b_{\beta\alpha}$ from (2.5).

Further, by combining (2.8) and (2.9), we find

$$0 = (\sigma^{\beta\alpha} + b^{\beta}_{\mu}M^{\mu\alpha})_{;\alpha}\mathbf{a}_{\beta} + (\sigma^{\beta\alpha} + b^{\beta}_{\mu}M^{\mu\alpha})\mathbf{a}_{\beta;\alpha}$$
$$-(M^{\alpha\beta}_{;\beta})_{;\alpha}\mathbf{n} - M^{\alpha\beta}_{;\beta}\mathbf{n}_{,\alpha} + p\mathbf{n}.$$
(2.28)

Finally, we project (2.28) into normal direction by applying dot product of unit normal **n** and subsequently obtain

$$0 = (\sigma^{\beta\alpha} + b^{\beta}_{\mu}M^{\mu\alpha})_{;\alpha}\mathbf{a}_{\beta} \cdot \mathbf{n} + (\sigma^{\beta\alpha} + b^{\beta}_{\mu}M^{\mu\alpha})\mathbf{a}_{\beta;\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{n} - (M^{\alpha\beta}_{;\beta})_{;\alpha}\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{n} - M^{\alpha\beta}_{;\beta}\mathbf{n}_{,\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{n} + p\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{n}.$$
(2.29)

But, since $a_{\beta} \cdot n = 0$, $(n \cdot n)_{,\alpha} = 0$, and $a_{\alpha;\beta} = b_{\alpha\beta}\mathbf{n}$ (see (2.7)), the above reduces to

$$(\sigma^{\beta\alpha} + b^{\beta}_{\mu}M^{\mu\alpha})b_{\alpha\beta} - (M^{\alpha\beta}_{;\beta})_{;\alpha} + p = 0.$$
(2.30)

Similarly, for tangential projection (e.g., $a_{\beta} \cdot a^{\alpha} = \delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}, a_{\beta;\alpha} \cdot a^{\alpha} = b_{\alpha\beta}n \cdot a^{\alpha} = 0$, etc.), we have

$$(\sigma^{\beta\alpha} + b^{\beta}_{\mu}M^{\mu\alpha})_{;\alpha} - M^{\alpha\mu}_{;\mu}b^{\beta}_{\alpha} + p = 0.$$
 (2.31)

where $n_{,\alpha} \cdot a^{\beta} = -b_{\alpha\gamma}a^{\gamma} \cdot a^{\beta} = -b_{\alpha\gamma}a^{\gamma} \cdot a^{\beta} = -b_{\alpha\gamma}a^{\gamma\beta} = -b_{\alpha}^{\beta}$ from Weingarten equation.

CHAPTER 3

MODELLING OF LIPID MEMBRANES AFFECTED BY GENERAL FORMS OF INTRA-MEMBRANE VISCOUS FLOWS AND INTERACTIONS WITH ELLIPTICAL-CROSS-SECTION SUBSTRATES

In this chapter, we study the morphologies of lipid membranes subjected to intramembrane viscous flows and interactions with elliptical cylinder substrates. Based on the non-linear elastic surface theory, the linearized shape equations and admissible boundary conditions are formulated in the elliptical domain via the Monge representation of a surface. In particular, the intra-membrane viscosity terms are linearized and mapped into the elliptic coordinates in order to accommodate more general forms of viscous flows. The assimilated viscous flows are characterized by the potential functions which satisfy the continuity condition. A complete solution regarding Mathieu function is then obtained within the prescription of incremental deformations superposed on large. The results describe smooth morphological transitions over the domain of interest and, more importantly, predict wrinkle formations in the presence of intra-membrane viscous flows in the surface. Lastly, the obtained solution accommodates the results from the circular cases in the limit of vanishing eccentricity and intra-membrane viscous flow.

3.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we study the deformations of lipid bilayers subjected to the intra-membrane viscous flows and the interactions of elliptical cylinder substrates. Utilizing the Monge parameterization of a surface and general curvilinear coordinates, the expressions of linearized shape equations and associated boundary conditions are obtained from the non-linear theory [34]. The intra-membrane viscosity terms are formulated by means of 'admissible linearization' and successively transformed into elliptical coordinates to assimilate more general types of viscous flow. More importantly, we obtained a complete analytic solution by employing adapted iterative reduction and the method of eigenfunction expansion [47]-[49], which describes the deformations of lipid membranes when interacting with intramembrane viscous flows and elliptical-cross-section substrates. It is found that intra-membrane viscosity induces wrinkle formations of the lipid membranes, and the corresponding number of wrinkles exhibits sensitivity to both the radius of the ellipse and the intensity of viscous flows. Comparisons with phenomenologically compatible cases such as a circular substrate-membrane interaction and capillary wrinkle of polymer films, are made where the proposed model successfully reproduces the results from [37], [50] in the limit of vanishing eccentricity of an ellipse.

Further, we obtain solutions corresponding to the case of a lipid membrane subjected to non-uniform viscous flows and dual source flows. This is facilitated by the relaxed form of the prescribed tangential and normal force, and the condition of continuity along and within the elliptical boundaries, unlike those arising in circular boundaries where the admissible set of viscous flows are strictly uniform in one of the coordinate directions [37]. The resulting deformation fields show clear signs of dual source interference in that both the radial and circumferential wave forms are simultaneously predicted. Case studies vis a vis morphologically similar results of shape memory films [51] are presented to investigate the potential applicabilities of the proposed model in the analysis of different types of membranes. In particular, it is found that the principles of superposition from linear elasticity remains valid, even in the presence of general forms of dual source viscous potentials. That is, the solution of a dual source problem can be directly obtained by adding solutions of two single source problems. The solutions presented here are of more practical interest in that, essentially, they lead to solutions of problems in which the viscosity effects are characterized by a wide class of potential functions and so can accommodate a correspondingly large set of physically relevant problems. For example, potential applications may be expected in the study of wrinkle-caused disease (e.g., a macular epiretinal membrane [52]) and the influences of membrane viscosity on various cellular functions such as fusion, fission and budding [53]. Further, the presented solution reproduces the existing results

[26] when viscosity effects are removed, and does incorporate the solution of the classical membrane-substrate interaction problem [20] in the limit of vanishing eccentricity. In fact, the classical solution obtained directly from the proposed model produces more accurate predictions by identifying the additional Bessel functions, which is reduced from the Mathieu potentials.

This chapter is composed as follows. In section 3.2, we develop the normal and tangential equations of motion of viscous lipid membranes and derive the incompressible condition of viscous fluids. In section 3.3, by employing Monge representation of a surface and admissible linearization, we linearize the membrane shape equations and the corresponding boundary conditions and transform them into the elliptical domain. Then, in section 3.4, a complete solution regarding Mathieu function is obtained by employing adapted iterative reduction and the method of eigenfunction expansion. Various types of viscous flows (uniform, nonuniform and dual source types) are studied and discussed in section 3.4.1, 3.4.2 and 3.4.3. Lastly, we reduce the obtained solutions to the circular domain in section 3.4.4.

3.2 Viscous lipid membranes

The viscous stress induced by the straining effects of the fluid is given by [54]

$$\sigma^{\alpha\beta} = (\lambda + W)a^{\alpha\beta} + \nu a^{\alpha\lambda}a^{\beta\mu}\dot{a}_{\lambda\mu}, \qquad (3.1)$$

where ν is the intra-membrane shear viscosity and

$$\dot{a}_{\lambda\mu} = (\mathbf{a}_{\lambda} \cdot \mathbf{a}_{\mu}) = \dot{\mathbf{a}}_{\lambda} \cdot \mathbf{a}_{\mu} + \mathbf{a}_{\lambda} \cdot \dot{\mathbf{a}}_{\mu}$$
(3.2)

is the time derivative of the evolving surface metric. Thus, in order to compute viscous stress, it is required to compute $\dot{\mathbf{a}}_{\mu}$, which can be obtained via the material time derivative of a position vector \mathbf{r} [35]:

$$\mathbf{u} = \dot{\mathbf{r}} = \frac{\partial \mathbf{r}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial \mathbf{r}}{\partial \theta^{\alpha}} \frac{\partial \theta^{\alpha}}{\partial t} = \mathbf{r}_t + \mathbf{a}_{\alpha} v^{\alpha}.$$
 (3.3)

Accordingly, it is found that

$$\dot{\mathbf{a}}_{\lambda} = \mathbf{u}_{,\lambda} = (v^{\alpha}\mathbf{a}_{\alpha} + w\mathbf{n})_{,\lambda} = v^{\alpha}_{,\lambda}\mathbf{a}_{\alpha} + v^{\alpha}\mathbf{a}_{\alpha,\lambda} + w_{,\lambda}\mathbf{n} + w\mathbf{n}_{,\lambda}$$
$$= (v_{\alpha;\lambda} - wb_{\alpha\lambda})\mathbf{a}^{\alpha} + (v^{\alpha}b_{\alpha\lambda} + w_{,\lambda})\mathbf{n}. \because v_{\alpha;\beta} = v_{\alpha,\beta} - v_{\beta}\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta}, \quad (3.4)$$

and

$$\dot{a}_{\lambda\mu} \stackrel{\text{(Eqs. 3.2\&3.4)}}{=} v_{\mu;\lambda} + v_{\lambda;\mu} - 2wb_{\lambda\mu}, \qquad (3.5)$$

where $v^{\alpha} = \partial \theta^{\alpha} / \partial t$, and $\mathbf{r}_t = |\mathbf{r}_t| \mathbf{n} = w\mathbf{n}$ are respectively the tangential and normal velocities of a material point on the initial surface ([35], [54] and [55]).

It is now straightforward to show from Eqs. (2.22),(3.1) and (3.5) that,

$$\sigma^{\beta\alpha} = (\lambda + W)a^{\beta\alpha} - 2(W_H H + W_K K)a^{\beta\alpha} + W_H \tilde{b}^{\beta\alpha} + \nu [a^{\beta\lambda}a^{\alpha\mu}(v_{\mu;\lambda} + v_{\lambda;\mu}) - 4wHa^{\beta\alpha} + 2w\tilde{b}^{\beta\alpha}], \qquad (3.6)$$

which is the expression of the viscous stress.

Thus, by means of Eqs. (2.27), (2.15) and (3.6), and applying the conventional Euclidean dot product in normal **n** direction, Eq. (2.8) becomes [34]

$$p = W_{H}(2H^{2} - K) + 2H(W_{K}K - W) - 2\lambda H + \Delta(\frac{1}{2}W_{H}) + (W_{K})_{;\alpha\beta}\tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta} - 2\nu[\frac{1}{2}b^{\alpha\beta}(v_{\alpha;\beta} + v_{\beta;\alpha}) - 2w(2H^{2} - K)], \qquad (3.7)$$

which serves as the equation of motion (normal direction) of the lipid membrane in the presence of intra-membrane viscosity effects. Further, Δ is the Laplace-Beltrami operator (i.e. $\Delta \phi = \phi_{;\alpha\beta} a^{\alpha\beta}$) on the surface Ω . Consequently, by projecting Eq. (2.8) onto the basis coordinate plane of \mathbf{a}_{α} , the following tangential equations of motion can be obtained:

$$\lambda_{,\alpha} - 4vwH_{,\alpha} + 2\nu \left[\frac{1}{2}a^{\lambda\mu}(v_{\mu;\alpha} + v_{\alpha;\mu})_{;\lambda} - w_{,\lambda}b^{\lambda}_{\alpha}\right] = 0.$$
(3.8)

Much of literature on the mechanics of lipid membranes has revealed that a bilayer membrane can be regarded as a continuous two-dimensional elastic surface where the response functions are governed by the well-known Helfrich energy potential [12]. The model has been widely adopted in various subjects within bilayer membrane mechanics (see, for example, [20], [21] and [24], and the references therein). Following the study of [34], in this paper, we consider the symmetric membrane of the Helfrich type (i.e. W(H, K) = W(-H, K)), subjected to the membrane-substrate interactions and the effects of intra-membrane viscosity. The corresponding free-energy density function is defined by [12]

$$W = kH^2 + \bar{k}K, \tag{3.9}$$

where k and \bar{k} are empirical bending constants, which pertain to lipid membranes with uniform properties. Thus, from Eq.(3.9), Eq. (3.7) becomes

$$p = k[\Delta H + 2H(H^2 - K)] - 2\lambda H - 2\nu [\frac{1}{2}b^{\alpha\beta}(v_{\alpha;\beta} + v_{\beta;\alpha}) - 2w(2H^2 - K)], \qquad (3.10)$$

while the tangential equations (Eq. (3.8)) remain intact.

Lastly, by invoking Eq. (3.5), the condition of an incompressible fluid $\dot{J}/J = \frac{1}{2}a^{\alpha\beta}\dot{a}_{\alpha\beta} = 0$ can be obtained as [56]

$$v^{\alpha}_{;\alpha} - 2wH = 0, \qquad (3.11)$$

where $H = \frac{1}{2}a^{\alpha\beta}b_{\alpha\beta}$.

3.3 Incremental deformations of lipid membranes

The use of Monge parameterization and admissible linearization is a widely adopted methodology for lipid membrane analysis, and the associated procedures are well documented in the literature (see, for example, [20], [24] and [27]). Here, we reformulate the results for the sake of completeness. Under the Monge parameterization, material points on the membrane surface Ω is defined by

$$\mathbf{r}(\theta^{\alpha}, t) = \boldsymbol{\theta} + z(\boldsymbol{\theta}, t)\mathbf{k}, \qquad (3.12)$$

where $\theta(\theta^{\alpha})$ is position on a plane p with unit normal k. The problem of determining the membranes' deformed configuration is then reduced to solving a single function $z(\theta, t)$. In the cases of Cartesian coordinates, we have

$$\boldsymbol{\theta} = \theta^{\alpha} \mathbf{e}_{\alpha}, \tag{3.13}$$

where $\{\mathbf{e}_{\alpha}\}$ is an orthonormal basis for the plane and, the subscripts of the surface coordinates are dropped and replaced by 1 = x, 2 = y, unless otherwise specified. Accordingly, we compute

$$\mathbf{r}_{,t} = z_{,t}\mathbf{k}, \ \mathbf{a}_{\alpha} = \mathbf{e}_{\alpha} + z_{,\alpha}\mathbf{k}, \ a = \det(a_{\alpha\beta}) = [1 + (z_{,1})^{2} + (z_{,2})^{2}],$$

$$a^{\alpha\beta} = \delta_{\alpha\beta} + z_{,\alpha}z_{,\beta}, H = \frac{(1 + z_{,2}^{2})z_{,11} + (1 + z_{,1}^{2})z_{,22} - 2z_{,1}z_{,2}z_{,12}}{2a^{3/2}},$$

$$K = \frac{(z_{,11}z_{,22} - z_{,12}^{2})}{a^{2}}, \ \mathbf{n} = \frac{(\mathbf{k} - \nabla z)}{\sqrt{a}},$$

$$\mathbf{b} = b_{\alpha\beta}(\mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{a}^{\beta}) = \frac{z_{,\alpha\beta}}{\sqrt{a}}(\mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{a}^{\beta}).$$
(3.14)

Here, $\nabla z = z_{,\alpha} \mathbf{e}_{\alpha}$ is surface gradient, $\delta_{\alpha\beta}$ is Kronecker delta and **b** is the curvature tensor. Further, the expressions of the dual basis and the Christoffel symbols are obtained as

$$\Gamma_{\alpha\beta}^{\lambda} = z_{,\lambda}z_{,\alpha\beta}/\sqrt{a},$$

$$\mathbf{a}^{1} = \frac{1}{a} \left[\left(1 + z_{,2}^{2} \right) \left(\mathbf{e}_{1} + z_{,1}\mathbf{k} \right) - z_{,1}z_{,2} \left(\mathbf{e}_{2} + z_{,2}\mathbf{k} \right) \right], \text{ and}$$

$$\mathbf{a}^{2} = \frac{1}{a} \left[\left(1 + z_{,1}^{2} \right) \left(\mathbf{e}_{2} + z_{,2}\mathbf{k} \right) - z_{,1}z_{,2} \left(\mathbf{e}_{1} + z_{,1}\mathbf{k} \right) \right].$$
(3.15)

In the incremental deformation analysis, it is assumed that the gradient of $z(\theta^{\alpha}, t)$ of all orders are 'small' so that their products can be neglected. The procedure is commonly referred to as admissible linearization through which the geometrical and kinematical quantities associated with the surface (Eq. (3.8)) can be
approximated as

$$a \simeq 1, \ w \simeq z_t, \ \mathbf{n} = \mathbf{k} - \nabla_p z, \ \mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \simeq \mathbf{a}_{\alpha} = \mathbf{e}_{\alpha} + z_{,\alpha} \mathbf{k}, \ \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta} \simeq 0,$$

 $\mathbf{n} \cdot \mathbf{r} \simeq z - z_{,\alpha} \theta^{\alpha}, \mathbf{b} \simeq \ \nabla^2_p z, \ H \simeq \frac{1}{2} \Delta_p z \text{ and } K \simeq 0,$ (3.16)

where the subscript $(*)_p$ refers to the projected counterparts of (*) on the coordinate plane ω_p , $\nabla_p^2 z = z_{,\alpha\beta} \mathbf{e}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{e}_{\beta}$ is the second gradient, and $\Delta_p z = tr(\nabla_p^2 z)$ is the corresponding Laplacian, respectively.

3.3.1 Linearization of the intra-membrane viscosity terms

In the forthcoming derivations, we present the linearization procedures for the terms associated with the intra-surface viscous flow, which arise in the formulation of membrane equilibrium equations. To proceed, we express the surface gradient of the viscous flow fields and the curvature tensor as

$$\nabla \mathbf{v} = \nabla (v_{\alpha} \mathbf{a}^{\alpha}) = (v_{\alpha,\beta} \mathbf{a}^{\alpha} + v_{\alpha} \mathbf{a}^{\alpha}_{,\beta}) \otimes \mathbf{a}^{\beta} \stackrel{(\text{Eqs. 2.1-2.3})}{=} v_{\alpha;\beta} \mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{a}^{\beta}, \text{ and}$$
$$\mathbf{b} = b^{\alpha\beta} (\mathbf{a}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{a}_{\beta}). \tag{3.17}$$

We then compute their traces to obtain

$$tr(\mathbf{b}(\nabla \mathbf{v})^T) + tr(\mathbf{b}(\nabla \mathbf{v})) = b^{\alpha\beta}(v_{\alpha;\beta} + v_{\beta;\alpha}), \qquad (3.18)$$

where $\mathbf{a}_{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{a}^{\beta} = \delta^{\beta}_{\alpha}$. Also, from the results in Eq. (3.16), Eq. (3.17) can be approximated, up to the leading order, to

$$v_{\alpha;\beta}(\mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{a}^{\beta}) = (v_{\alpha,\beta} - v_{\lambda} \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\alpha\beta})[(\mathbf{e}_{\alpha} + z_{,\alpha} \mathbf{k}) \otimes (\mathbf{e}_{\beta} + z_{,\beta} \mathbf{k})]$$

$$\simeq (v_{\alpha,\beta})(\mathbf{e}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{e}_{\beta}), \text{ and}$$

$$\mathbf{b} = b_{\lambda\gamma} a^{\lambda\alpha} a^{\gamma\beta} (\mathbf{a}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{a}_{\beta})$$

$$= b_{\lambda\gamma} (\delta_{\lambda\alpha} + z_{,\lambda} z_{,\alpha}) (\delta_{\gamma\beta} + z_{,\gamma} z_{,\alpha\beta}) (\mathbf{a}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{a}_{\beta})$$

$$\simeq z_{,\alpha\beta} \mathbf{e}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{e}_{\beta}.$$
(3.19)

Now, combining Eqs. (3.18) and (3.19), we find that,

$$tr(\mathbf{b}(\nabla \mathbf{v})^{T}) = [v_{\alpha,\beta}(\mathbf{e}_{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{e}_{\beta})z_{\lambda\gamma}(\mathbf{e}_{\gamma} \otimes \mathbf{e}_{\lambda})] \simeq v_{\alpha,\beta}z_{,\alpha\beta}$$
$$tr(\mathbf{b}(\nabla \mathbf{v})) \simeq v_{\beta,\alpha}z_{,\alpha\beta}.$$
(3.20)

Thus, Eq. (3.18) simplifies to

$$b^{\alpha\beta}(v_{\alpha;\beta} + v_{\beta;\alpha}) \simeq z_{,\alpha\beta}(v_{\alpha,\beta} + v_{\beta,\alpha}). \tag{3.21}$$

However, since $z_{,\alpha\beta} = z_{,\beta\alpha}$, the above can be re-written as

$$z_{,\alpha\beta}(v_{\alpha,\beta} + v_{\beta,\alpha}) = 2z_{,\alpha\beta}v_{\alpha,\beta}.$$
(3.22)

To obtain the simplified expression of incompressibility condition (3.11), we evaluate the surface divergence of the viscous flow field as

$$\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} = tr(\nabla(v_{\alpha}\mathbf{a}^{\alpha})) \stackrel{(\operatorname{Eqs.3.17})}{=} tr[v_{\alpha;\beta}\mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \otimes \mathbf{a}^{\beta}] = v_{\alpha;\beta}a^{\alpha\beta} = v_{;\alpha}^{\alpha}, \quad (3.23)$$

where $\mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \cdot \mathbf{a}^{\beta} = \mathbf{a}_{\lambda} a^{\lambda \alpha} \cdot \mathbf{a}_{\gamma} a^{\lambda \alpha} = a_{\lambda \gamma} a^{\lambda \alpha} a^{\lambda \alpha} = a^{\alpha \beta}$. Substituting the above into Eq. (3.11), and further invoking Eq. (3.3), we arrive at

$$v_{;\alpha}^{\alpha} - 2wH = \operatorname{div} \mathbf{v} - 2(\frac{z_{,t}}{\sqrt{a}})H.$$
(3.24)

Thus, from Eq. (3.16), the leading order approximation of the above can be found as

$$v_{;\alpha}^{\alpha} - 2wH = (\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v})_{P} = v_{\alpha,a}, \qquad (3.25)$$

where $(\operatorname{div} \mathbf{v})_P$ is the divergence of the projected coordinate plane Ω_p .

Consequently, substitution of these linearized expressions, (Eqs. (3.16),(3.22) and (3.25)), into Eqs. (3.8) and (3.10-3.11) delivers the following normal and tangential equations, and incompressibility conditions:

$$\frac{1}{2}k\Delta_p(\Delta_p z) - \lambda\Delta_p z - 2\nu z_{,\alpha\beta}v_{\alpha,\beta} \simeq p, \ (\lambda+P)_{,\alpha} + v\Delta_p v_{\alpha} \simeq 0$$
and $v_{\alpha,\alpha} \simeq 0$
(3.26)

Here, $P = P(\theta^{\alpha}, t)$ is understood as a sequence of prescribed surface pressure (see, [34]) from the admissible set of boundary forces which satisfy

$$f_{\tau} = \nu (v_{\alpha,\beta} + v_{\beta,\alpha}) (\tau_{\beta} \gamma_{\alpha})_{p} \simeq 0 \text{ and}$$

$$f_{\gamma} = -P \simeq \lambda + \nu (v_{\alpha,\beta} + v_{\beta,\alpha}) (v_{\beta} \gamma_{\alpha})_{p}, \qquad (3.27)$$

where $\gamma \times \tau = \mathbf{n}$. In particular, the compatible linear forms for the moments and normal interaction forces are given by [20]

$$f_n \simeq \overline{k} \nabla_p [\boldsymbol{\tau}_p \cdot (\nabla_p^2 z) \boldsymbol{\gamma}_p] \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_p - k \boldsymbol{\gamma}_p \cdot \nabla_p H = \sigma, \qquad (3.28)$$

where $\tau'(S) = \frac{d\tau}{dS} = \frac{d\tau}{d\theta} \cdot \frac{d\theta}{dS} = \nabla_p \tau \cdot \boldsymbol{\tau}_p$ and σ are the arc length derivative on the projected curve, and the empirical constant accounting for the wetting of the interacting boundary, respectively. Hence, the solution of Eq. (3.26) can be determined by imposing the admissible boundary conditions, Eqs. (3.27) and (3.28).

3.3.2 Formulations in the elliptical coordinates

We consider the cases when lipid membranes interact through the elliptical contact domain of a transmembrane substrate, and are subjected a general class of intra-membrane viscous flow (see, Fig. 3.1.). The deformations of lipid membranes



Figure 3.1: Schematic of an elliptical cylinder substrate-membrane system.

defined on an elliptical domain can be examined by using the mapping,

$$x + iy = c\cosh(\xi + i\eta), \tag{3.29}$$

such that

$$x = c \cosh(\xi) \cos(\eta) \text{ and } y = c \sinh(\xi) \sin(\eta), \qquad (3.30)$$

through which the rectangular Cartesian coordinates (x, y) are mapped to the elliptical coordinates (ξ, η) . The semi focal length c is defined by $c = \sqrt{a^2 - b^2}$ and $\xi \in [0, \infty)$, and $\eta \in [0, 2\pi]$ are respectively the radial and angular coordinates. Accordingly, Eqs. (3.29-3.30) furnish the gradient and Laplacian in elliptical coordinates as

$$\nabla = \frac{1}{\sqrt{c^2(\cosh^2 \xi - \cos^2 \eta)}} (\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi} \mathbf{e}_{\xi}, \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} \mathbf{e}_{\eta}), \qquad (3.31)$$

$$\Delta = \frac{1}{c^2 (\cosh^2 \xi - \cos^2 \eta)} \left(\frac{\partial^2}{\partial \xi^2} + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \eta^2}\right).$$
(3.32)

The condition of incompressibility (i.e. $v_{\alpha,\alpha} = 0$) then yields

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{c^2(\cosh^2\xi - \cos^2\eta)}}(v_{\xi,\xi} + v_{\eta,\eta}) = 0, \qquad (3.33)$$

from which the admissible set of viscous flow field is found to be

$$v_{\xi} = \int w(\xi, \eta) d\xi + C_1 \eta$$

$$v_{\eta} = \int -w(\xi, \eta) d\eta + C_2 \xi,$$
(3.34)

so that Eq. (3.33) is satisfied (i.e. $v_{\xi,\xi} + v_{\eta,\eta} = w(\xi,\eta) - w(\xi,\eta) = 0$). In the analysis, we assume $C_1 = C_2 = 0$ for the sake of simplicity. The cases of non-zero coefficients can be easily accommodated via the principles of superposition which will be discussed in the later section.

The membrane-substrate interaction occurs through the wall of the elliptical substrate where the corresponding domain of interest, Ω , and interacting bound-

ary, $\partial\Omega$, are defined respectively as

$$\Omega = \xi_i \leqslant \xi \leqslant \xi_o \text{ (elliptical annulus), and}$$

$$\partial \Omega = \xi = \xi_i \text{ (interacting boundary).} \tag{3.35}$$

Using the mapping functions in Eqs. (3.29-3.30), the associated boundary conditions can be obtained from Eqs. (3.27) such that

$$0 \simeq \frac{\nu}{\sqrt{c^2(\cosh^2 \xi - \cos^2 \eta)}} (v_{\alpha,\beta} + v_{\beta,\alpha}) (\tau_{\beta} \gamma_{\alpha})_p, \text{ and}$$
$$-\lambda - P \simeq \frac{\nu}{\sqrt{c^2(\cosh^2 \xi - \cos^2 \eta)}} (v_{\alpha,\beta} + v_{\beta,\alpha}) (\gamma_{\beta} \gamma_{\alpha})_p. \tag{3.36}$$

Here, the repeated indices, α and β , when summed over their ranges {1,2}, refer to ξ and η in elliptic coordinates. On the boundaries (i.e. $\xi = \xi_o$ and $\xi = \xi_i$), we find

$$\boldsymbol{\tau} = \mathbf{e}_{\eta} = \text{and } \boldsymbol{\gamma} = -\mathbf{e}_{\xi}, \tag{3.37}$$

and thereby reduce Eq. (3.36) to

$$0 \simeq \frac{\nu}{\sqrt{c^2(\cosh^2 \xi - \cos^2 \eta)}} (v_{\xi,\eta} + v_{\eta,\xi}), \text{ and}$$

$$-\lambda - P \simeq \frac{\nu}{\sqrt{c^2(\cosh^2 \xi - \cos^2 \eta)}} (2v_{\xi,\xi}). \tag{3.38}$$

In particular, since the membrane-substrate interaction condition (i.e. $\mathbf{n} - \nabla z = \mathbf{k}$, see, [20] and [22]) requires $\nabla z = 0$ at the inner boundary ($\xi = \xi_i$), the normal force (Eq. (3.28)) becomes

$$f_n \simeq -k\boldsymbol{\gamma}_p \cdot \nabla_p H = \sigma. \tag{3.39}$$

We continue by rewriting $\nabla_p H$ using Eq. (3.31) and subsequently reduce Eq. (3.39) to

$$\frac{1}{h(\xi,\eta)}\frac{\partial H}{\partial \xi} = \frac{\sigma}{k}, \text{ on } \partial w \text{ (i.e. at } \xi = \xi_i), \tag{3.40}$$

where,

$$h(\xi,\eta) = \sqrt{c^2(\cosh^2 \xi - \cos^2 \eta)}.$$
 (3.41)

Further, applying the similar schemes as in the above, it is not difficult to show

$$z_{,\alpha\beta}\nu_{\alpha,\beta} = \frac{1}{h^{3}(\xi,\eta)} \left[z_{,\xi\xi}v_{\xi,\xi} + z_{,\xi\eta}v_{\eta,\xi} + z_{,\xi\eta}v_{\xi,\eta} + z_{,\eta\eta}v_{\eta,\eta} \right].$$
(3.42)

Consequently, by combining the above results, we reformulate Eq. (3.26) and the associated boundary conditions as

$$\frac{1}{2}k\Delta(\Delta z) - \lambda\Delta z - \frac{2v}{h^3(\xi,\eta)}(z_{,\xi\xi}v_{\xi,\xi} + z_{,\xi\eta}v_{\eta,\xi} + z_{,\xi\eta}v_{\xi,\eta} + z_{,\eta\eta}v_{\eta,\eta}) = 0, \quad (3.43)$$

subjected to

$$z(\xi_i, \eta) = 0, \ \nabla z(\xi_i, \eta) = 0 \text{ and } \frac{1}{h} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi} H(\xi_i, \eta) = \frac{\sigma}{k}.$$
 (3.44)

Remark. 1.

It should be noted that the restrictions on the continuity conditions (div(\mathbf{v}) = 0) and the prescribed tangential ($f_{\tau} = 0$) force can be relaxed along and within the elliptical boundaries unlike those arising in circular cases where the admissible set of viscous flows are required to be strictly uniform in one of the coordinate directions (i.e. either $v_r = const$ or $v_{\theta} = const$) to satisfy the constraints [37]. This is mainly due to the confined descriptions of the circular interaction boundary

where the rate of change in the unit normal and tangent on the circular boundary remains constant so that the associated normal velocity fields v_r always points to the center of a circular substrate. Thus, v_r is required to be vanished by its gradient $v_{r,r}$ or gradient of tangential velocity $v_{\theta,\theta}$ to satisfy the continuity condition; i.e.,

$$\operatorname{div}(\mathbf{v}) = v_{r,r} + \frac{v_{\theta,\theta}}{r} + \frac{v_r}{r} = 0.$$
(3.45)

Such restriction can be relaxed in the case of the elliptic interaction boundary, since the rate of change in local coordinate is not necessarily constant, yet they vary with respect to the coordinates ξ and η (see, Eqs. (3.31)-(3.32)). This further suggests that the normal velocity field v_{ξ} does not necessarily points to the center of an elliptical substrate (see, Fig. 3.1.) and therefore no restrictions are necessary for v_{ξ} . In results, the associated flow fields (v_{ξ} and v_{η}) can accommodate more general forms such as non-uniform viscous flows and periodic wave form of viscous flows (no need to be strictly constant) without violating the aforementioned constitutive restrictions. Examples regarding these cases will be discussed in the following section.

Lastly, Eqs. (3.43-3.44) serve as the linearized shape equation system which describes the morphology of lipid membranes under the influences of membranesubstrate interactions and general forms of viscous flows. In the analysis, we also impose $z(\xi_i, \eta) = 0$ for the purpose of comparison with the existing literature.

3.4 Solutions to the linearized systems

It can be seen from Eqs. (3.31), (3.32), and (3.43) that the gradient, Laplacian and the resulting PDEs in elliptical curvilinear coordinate continuously vary with respect to the material points ($\xi = \xi_o, \eta = \eta_o$) on the membrane surface, where ξ_o and η_o denote a particular configuration of the surface. In other words, the associated tangential and normal velocities are simultaneously updated as material points move over the membrane surface. Therefore, the solution of the Eq. (3.43), which is coupled with the viscous velocity fields, cannot be accommodated by the conventional separation variable method of modified Helmholtz equation. In this section, we combine the method of adoptive iteration and the principle of eigenfunction expansions [47]-[49], and obtained the complete expression of the membrane's shape function $z(\xi, \eta)$.

To proceed, we solve the homogenous sections of the Eq. (3.43) $(\frac{1}{2}k\Delta(\Delta z) - \lambda\Delta z = 0)$, which is a special type of Laplace equation. The solution is obtained as

$$z(\xi,\eta) = \frac{2}{\mu^2} H(\xi,\eta) + B_m + \varphi(\xi,\eta).$$
(3.46)

Here, $\varphi(\xi, \eta)$ is the plane harmonic function, which is chosen as

$$\varphi(\xi,\eta) = C_m \log(e^{\xi}/e^{\xi_0}) + D_m \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} e^{-\xi} c e_m(\eta,q)$$
(3.47)

to accommodate the desired behavior (i.e. $|\nabla z| \to 0$) as approaching the bound-

ary. In particular, the unknown potential $H(\xi, \eta, q)$ can be expressed as [57]

$$H(\xi,\eta) \equiv \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_m K e_m(\xi,q) c e_n(\eta,q) T_{mn}(\xi,\eta), \qquad (3.48)$$

where $ce_n(\eta, q)$ and $Ke_m(\xi, q)$ are the modified Mathieu functions of the first and second kind, respectively, and q (q > 0) is the associated parameter (see, for example [58]).

Now, by substituting Eqs. (3.34) and (3.48) into Eq. (3.43), and invoking the orthogonal properties of the Mathieu function,

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} c e_m(\eta, q) c e_n(\eta, q) d\eta = \int_{0}^{2\pi} K e_m(\xi, q) K e_n(\xi, q) d\xi = \pi \delta_{mn}, \text{ and } (3.49)$$

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} Ke_m(\xi, q) ce_n(\eta, q) Ke_k(\xi, q) ce_l(\eta, q) d\xi d\eta = \pi \delta_{mk},$$
(3.50)

we obtain the following expressions for T_{mn} :

$$T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} -\frac{\nu}{\lambda\pi^{2}h^{3}(\xi,\eta)} * \\ \left[-e^{-\xi}ce'_{m}(\eta,q)Ke_{m}(\xi,q)ce_{n}(\eta,q)(\frac{\partial\int w(\xi,\eta)d\xi}{\partial\eta} + \frac{\partial\int -w(\xi,\eta)d\eta}{\partial\xi}) + \{e^{-\xi}\pi Ke_{m}(\xi,q) + e^{-\xi}ce''_{m}(\eta,q) * \\ Ke_{m}(\xi,q)ce_{n}(\eta,q)\}w(\xi,\eta)\right]d\xi d\eta.$$
(3.51)

The detailed procedures which can be found in [47]-[49] are omitted here for the sake of brevity.

Consequently, the general solution in Eq. (3.46) can be found in the form

$$z(\xi,\eta) = \frac{2}{\mu^2} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} [A_m K e_m(\xi,q) c e_m(\eta,q) T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) + B_m + C_m \log(e^{\xi}/e^{\xi_0}) + D_m e^{-\xi} c e_m(\eta,q)],$$
(3.52)

where $\mu = \sqrt{2\lambda/k}$ is the natural length scale which is commonly adopted in the membrane studies (see, for example, [20], [23] and [34]). Details regarding the dimensionless variables adopted in the present work will be discussed in later section. The unknown constants A_m, B_m, C_m and D_m can be completely determined by imposing the admissible boundary conditions. For instance, the substratemembrane interaction conditions (3.44) require

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial \xi} z(\xi_i, \eta) = 0, \ \frac{\partial}{\partial \eta} z(\xi_i, \eta) = 0, \ z(\xi_i, \eta) = 0 \text{ and } \frac{1}{h(\xi_i, \eta)} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi} H(\xi_i, \eta) = \frac{\sigma}{k}, \ (3.53)$$

on the boundary from which we find that,

$$A_{m} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{\sigma h(\xi_{i}, \eta)}{k(Ke_{m}(\xi_{i}, q)ce_{m}(\eta, q)T_{\xi}'(\xi_{i}, \eta) + ce_{m}(\eta, q)Ke_{m}'(\xi_{i}, q)T_{mn}(\xi_{i}, \eta))}$$

$$B_{m} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{2h(\xi_{i},\eta)\sigma}{ce'_{m}(\eta,q)k\mu^{2}} * \frac{Ke_{m}(\xi_{i},q)ce_{m}(\eta,q)T'_{\eta}(\xi_{i},\eta) + Ke_{m}(\xi_{i},q)ce'_{m}(\eta,q)T_{mn}(\xi_{i},n)}{Ke_{m}(\xi_{i},q)T'_{\xi}(\ell,\eta) + Ke'_{m}(\xi_{i},q)T_{mn}(\xi_{i},\eta)} - \frac{2\sigma Ke_{m}(\xi_{i},q)h(\xi_{i},\eta)T_{mn}(\xi_{i},\eta)}{k\mu^{2}(Ke_{m}(\xi_{i},q)T'_{\xi}(\xi_{i},\eta) + Ke'_{m}(\xi_{i},q)T_{mn}(\xi_{i},\eta))} \right],$$

$$C_{m} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left[-\frac{2\sigma h(\xi_{0},\eta)}{k\mu^{2}} - \frac{2\sigma h(\xi_{i},\eta)}{ce'_{m}(\eta,q)k\mu^{2}} - \frac{Ke_{m}(\xi_{i},q)ce_{m}(\eta,q)T'_{\xi}(\xi_{i},\eta) + Ke_{m}(\xi_{i},q)ce'_{m}(\eta,q)T_{mn}(\xi_{i},\eta)}{Ke_{m}(\xi_{i},q)T'_{\xi}(\xi_{i},\eta) + Ke'_{m}(\xi_{i},q)T_{mn}(\xi_{0},\eta)} \right],$$

and

$$D_{m} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} -\frac{2\sigma h(\xi_{i},\eta)e^{\xi_{i}}}{ce'_{m}(\eta,q)k\mu^{2}} * \frac{Ke_{m}(\xi_{i},q)ce_{m}(\eta,q)T'_{\eta}(\xi_{i},\eta) + Ke_{m}(\xi_{i},q)ce'_{m}(\eta,q)T_{mn}(\xi_{i},\eta)}{Ke_{m}(\xi_{i},q)ce_{m}(\eta,q)T'_{\eta}(\xi_{i},\eta) + ce_{m}(\eta,q)Ke'_{m}(\xi_{i},q)T_{mn}(\xi_{i},\eta)} (3.54)$$

where

$$Ke'_{m}(\xi,q) = \frac{\partial Ke_{m}(\xi,q)}{\partial \xi}, ce'_{m}(\eta,q) = \frac{\partial ce_{m}(\eta,q)}{\partial \eta},$$

$$T'_{\xi}(\xi,\eta) = \frac{\partial T_{mn}(\xi,\eta)}{\partial \xi}, T'_{\eta}(\xi,\eta) = \frac{\partial T_{mn}(\xi,\eta)}{\partial \eta},$$

$$T'_{\xi}(\xi_{i},\eta) = \left[\frac{\partial T_{mn}(\xi,\eta)}{\partial \xi}\right]_{\xi=\xi_{i}}, T'_{\eta}(\xi_{i},\eta) = \frac{\partial T_{mn}(\xi_{i},\eta)}{\partial \eta}.$$
(3.55)

As Fig 3.2 illustrates, the viscous flows on the membranes' surfaces can impact the morphologies of lipid membranes due to the viscous impact forces, frictional forces and the gravity of flows. The viscous impact forces are aligned with the flows' directions because of the inertia of fluid. The frictional forces are tangential to the membranes' surfaces and point to the opposite directions of the speed vectors of the viscous flows. Further, gravity points vertically downwards because of the law of attraction. When the viscous flows start to flow on the membranes' surfaces, the wrinkles appear due to the small stiffness of membranes, the frictional forces, and the gravity of flows. Then the viscous impact forces help the spreading of the wrinkles on the membranes' surfaces.

3.4.1 Constant viscous flow potential: $w(\xi, \eta) = A$

The membrane systems may be exposed to the constant viscous flow within a cell such as the selective transport of molecules inside the lipid bilayers where the molecules travel with the constant flow from one side of the membrane to the objective protein [59]. To assimilate such constant viscous flow, we consider the



Figure 3.2: Schematic of the forces on the membrane's surface when viscous flows go through

case when $w(\xi, \eta) = A$, and thereby reduce Eq. (3.51) to

$$T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} -\frac{1}{\lambda \pi^{2}} \frac{\nu A e^{-\xi} K e_{m}(\xi,q)}{h^{3}(\xi,\eta)} [\pi +\frac{\partial^{2} c e_{m}(\eta,q)}{\partial \eta^{2}} c e_{n}(\eta,q)] d\xi d\eta.$$
(3.56)

Eqs. (3.52), (3.54) and (3.56) then deliver

$$z(\xi,\eta) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{2\sigma h(\xi,\eta) c e_m(\eta,q)}{\sigma_1} \{ K e_m(\xi,q) T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) - K e_m(\xi_0,q) T_{mn}(\xi_0,\eta) \} - \left(\frac{2h\sigma}{k\mu^2} + \frac{2\sigma c e_m^2(\eta,q) h(\xi,\eta) K e_m(\xi_0,q)}{\sigma_1} * \frac{T'_{\eta}(\xi_0,\eta) + T_{mn}(\xi_0,\eta)}{c e'_m(\eta,q)} \right) \log(\frac{e^{\xi}}{e^{\xi_i}})], \qquad (3.57)$$

where

$$\sigma_{1} = k\mu^{2} [Ke_{m}(\xi_{i}, q)ce_{m}(\eta, q)dT\xi(\xi_{i}, \eta, q) + ce_{m}(\eta, q)dKe_{m}(\xi_{i}, q)T_{mn}(\xi_{i}, \eta, q)].$$
(3.58)

The resulting function $z(\xi, \eta)$ in Eq. (3.57) describes the morphology of a lipid membrane when subjected to membrane-substrate interactions and the effects of uniform intra-membrane viscous flow. The associated results are presented in Figs. 3.1, 3.3 and 3.4. In the assimilation, we adopt the value of intra-membrane surface viscosity $\nu = 10^{-4}pN \cdot s/nm$ and the flexural modulus of the membrane k = $82pN \cdot nm$ from the work of [60] and [61]. The Lagrange multiplier λ is dependent on membrane systems in consideration and usually do not have definite range of values. The values of λ commonly used in the literatures is about $\lambda \propto 10^{-4}pN/nm$. In the present study, we assimilate data under the normalized setting using the aforementioned values. The dimensionless parameters used in the simulations are adopted from the works [20], [23] and [34] as;

$$\mu = \sqrt{2\lambda/k}$$
: natural length scale (e.g., μa : radius of a circular membrane),
 σ/λ : force scale (e.g., $f_n = \sigma/\lambda$: interaction force). (3.59)

We have found that the viscous flow gives rise to wrinkle phenomena, when the normalized magnitude of viscous flow is greater than the critical number (i.e. $\frac{A\nu}{\lambda} \geq 10^{-15}$). Especially, the number of radial wrinkles with respect to the intramembrane viscous flows (A) and the radius of the inner ellipse (μc) are illustrated in Fig. 3.3. The top two figures indicate that, with the same inner ellipse, the number of wrinkles reduce as the magnitude of viscous flow decreases from 10^{-5} to 10^{-7} . Further, the right and/or left two figures shows that the number of wrinkles increase as the inner radius of an ellipse increase from 0.3 to 0.6 while the magnitude of the viscous flow remains the same (i.e. $A = 10^{-5}$ (left) and $A = 10^{-7}$ (right)). Phenomenologically compatible results can be found in the relevant works such as circular substrate-membrane interactions [37], capillary wrinkles on thin polymer films [50] and theoretical study on an elastic surface [62], where the number of radial wrinkles depends upon the size of the inner radius and membrane thickness. The proposed model successfully reproduces the reported results under physically similar/compatible settings (see Fig. 3.3) and 3.4). The solutions presented in [37] are the special case of the presented solution (see, Fig. 3.4-3.5.) in the limit of vanishing eccentricity of elliptical domains (i.e. $h(\xi_i, \eta) = a(1 - e^2 \cos^2 \eta)^{1/2} = a$ for $e \to 0$.). Lastly, we note here that the predicted wrinkle cases are unique and steady, since the proposed model satisfies strict quasi-convexity through the minimization of membranes' strain-energy potentials (see, for example, |62|-|63|).



Figure 3.3: Number of wrinkles with respect to A and μc (inner radius: major axis).

3.4.2 Non-uniform viscous flow potential: $w(\xi, \eta) = A \sin \xi \cos \eta$ (waveform)

In this section, we consider membrane systems with non-uniform viscous flow. The non-uniform cases can be observed in various cellular activities such as the transportation of the intracellular membrane and the transmembrane proteins induced by the viscous flow with tension gradient [64]. In this case, the viscous flow field becomes non-uniform due to the interactions with tension gradient field.

Membranes subjected to the waveform of non-uniform viscous flows can be examined by introducing the following potential function,

$$w(\xi,\eta) = A\sin(E\xi)\cos(F\eta), \qquad (3.60)$$



Figure 3.4: Comparisons:Number of wrinkles on thin polymer films. (*Picture taken from: Huang, J., et al. 2007*)

where the intensity of wavy flow can be controlled by the parameters E and F. In the assimilation, we set E = F = 1 for simplicity. Accordingly, from Eq. (3.51), we obtain the following expression of $T_{mn}(\xi, \eta)$, addressing the viscous effects,

$$T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} -\frac{1}{\pi^{2}\lambda} \frac{\nu A \sin \xi \cos \eta e^{-\xi} K e_{m}(\xi,q)}{h^{3}(\xi,\eta)} * [\pi + \frac{\partial^{2} c e_{m}(\eta,q)}{\partial \eta^{2}} c e_{n}(\eta,q)] d\xi d\eta.$$
(3.61)

Combining (3.52), (3.54) and (3.61), the complete solution describing the mem-



Figure 3.5: Comparison with circular case (47 wrinkles in total). (*Picture taken from: Zeidi, M., et al. 2018*)

branes' morphology can then be found as

$$z(\xi,\eta) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{2h\sigma c e_m(\eta,q)}{\sigma_1} \{ K e_m(\xi,q) T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) - K e_m(\xi_i,q) T_{mn}(\xi_i,\eta) \} - \left(\frac{2h\sigma}{k\mu^2} + \frac{2\sigma c e_m(\eta,q) h(\xi,\eta) K e_m(\xi_i,q)}{\sigma_1} \right) \frac{c e_m(\eta,q) T'_{\eta}(\xi_i,\eta) + c e'_m(\eta,q) T_{mn}(\xi_i,\eta)}{c e'_m(\eta,q)} \right]$$
(3.62)

where σ_1 is defined in Eq. (3.58). Similar to the constant viscous cases, the resulting deformation fields (radial wave deformations) are sensitive to both the dimension of an inner ellipse and the intensity of viscous flow; i.e., the number of waves reduces as A decreases from 10^{-5} to 10^{-7} (See. Fig. 3.6.). But, more impor-

tantly, the transverse wave deformations of the membrane and the corresponding vertical deflections die out as they approach the remote boundary. As a result, the corresponding boundary remains intact and stable (See. Fig. 3.7.). In the case of vanishing A, the wave deformations are completely removed from the entire domain of interest so that the vertical deformation profile reduces to the results in [26], where the authors present the analysis of elliptical substrate-membrane interaction problems without the considerations of viscosity effects (See. Fig. 3.7). Also, Fig. 3.8. shows that the obtained solution accommodates the results of circular substrate-membrane interaction problems in [37] when the eccentricity converges to zero (i.e. $e \rightarrow 0$.). In fact, the solutions in Figs. 3.7 and 3.8 become essentially identical for sufficiently small value of A; i.e., $A \leq 10^{-16}$ for case in Fig. 3.7 and $A \leq 10^{-8}$ and $A \leq 10^{-10}$ for the cases in Fig. 3.8. In the assimilations, the classical solutions obtained from the proposed model are intentionally reproduced at $A = 10^{-15}$, $A = 10^{-7}$ and $A = 10^{-9}$ for the purpose of visual demonstration.



Figure 3.6: Wave deformations of lipid membrane with respect to A.



Figure 3.7: Transverse deflections of lipid membrane with respect to intramembrane viscous flows.

3.4.3 Dual source problems: $w(\xi, \eta) = A + A \sin \xi \cos \eta$

The proposed model is sufficiently general in that the viscous effects from both radial and circumferential directions can be simultaneously considered. To demonstrate this, we introduce the following dual source potential

$$w(\xi,\eta) = A + A\sin\xi\cos\eta,\tag{3.63}$$

and subsequently obtain from Eq. (3.51) that

$$T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} -\frac{1}{\lambda \pi^{2}} \frac{\nu A(1+\sin\xi\cos\eta)e^{-\xi}Ke_{m}(\xi,q)}{h^{3}(\xi,\eta)} \\ *[\pi + e^{-\xi} \frac{\partial^{2}ce_{m}(\eta,q)}{\partial \eta^{2}}ce_{n}(\eta,q)]d\xi d\eta.$$
(3.64)

Thus, from Eqs. (3.52) and (3.54), the deformation mapping function $z(\xi, \eta)$ can be obtained in the same manner as in the single source cases.

Figure 3.9 illustrates the deformation configuration of the membranes under the influence of dual source viscous flow. It is shown that both the radial and circumferential wave patterns are simultaneously observed. Morphologically similar cases are reported in the work of [51] where the authors examined the wrinkle



Figure 3.8: Comparison with circular case. (*Picture taken from: Zeidi, M., et al.* 2018)

phenomena of a thin gold layer (10nm in thickness) when subjected to thermal stresses from the adjoined polymer substrate. In cases of thin membranes, thermal stresses may be understood as a particular type of the surface stress [65], [66]. Therefore, the results may bear close resemblance with the present case where the membrane's deformations are induced by the surface interaction forces which are transmitted from the acting viscous flows. The obtained solution assimilates the experimental results in [51] when compatible conditions are applied (see, Figs. 3.10 and 3.11). This further suggests that the proposed model may be of practical interest in the morphological study of thin film structures. Such investigations are, however, limited in the present study due to the lack of available data.

Remark. 2.

The results in Fig. 3.9 further indicates that the principle of superposition remains valid in the present cases. The principle is widely adopted in various engineering problems with simple initial and/or boundary value problems of both first (Dirichlet) and second (Neumann) types [67]-[69]. However, such practices are largely absent in the membrane studies due the complexity of mixed boundary conditions (i.e. both the Dirichlet and Neumann boundary conditions are prescribed on the boundaries), and the limited access for the solutions of membrane systems subjected to coupled-physics environment. In the present case, the solutions of single source problems (i.e. w = A and $w = A \sin \xi \cos \eta$) can be obtained from Eqs. (3.56), (3.57), (3.61) and (3.62) that

$$T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} -\frac{1}{\lambda \pi^{2}} \frac{\nu A e^{-\xi} K e_{m}(\xi,q)}{h^{3}(\xi,\eta)} \\ [\pi + \frac{\partial^{2} c e_{m}(\eta,q)}{\partial \eta^{2}} c e_{n}(\eta,q)] d\xi d\eta,$$
(3.65)

$$z(\xi,\eta) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{2\sigma h(\xi,\eta) c e_m(\eta,q)}{\sigma_1} \{ K e_m(\xi,q) T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) - K e_m(\xi_0,q) T_{mn}(\xi_0,\eta) \} - \left(\frac{2h\sigma}{k\mu^2} + \frac{2\sigma c e_m(\eta,q) h(\xi,\eta) K e_m(\xi_0,q) c e_m(\eta,q)}{\sigma_1} * \left(\frac{T'_{\eta}(\xi_0,\eta) + T_{mn}(\xi_0,\eta)}{c e'_m(\eta,q)} \right) \log(\frac{e^{\xi}}{e^{\xi_i}}) \right],$$
(3.66)

for uniform flow w = A and

$$T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} -\frac{1}{\pi^{2}\lambda} \frac{\nu A \sin \xi \cos \eta e^{-\xi} K e_{m}(\xi,q)}{h^{3}(\xi,\eta)} \\ * \left[\pi + \frac{\partial^{2} c e_{m}(\eta,q)}{\partial \eta^{2}} c e_{n}(\eta,q)\right] d\xi d\eta,$$
(3.67)

$$z(\xi,\eta) = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{2h\sigma c e_m(\eta,q)}{\sigma_1} \{ K e_m(\xi,q) T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) - K e_m(\xi_i,q) T_{mn}(\xi_i,\eta) \} - \left(\frac{2h\sigma}{k\mu^2} + \frac{2\sigma c e_m(\eta,q) h(\xi,\eta) K e_m(\xi_i,q)}{\sigma_1} * \frac{c e_m(\eta,q) T'_{\eta}(\xi_i,\eta) + c e'_m(\eta,q) T_{mn}(\xi_i,\eta)}{c e'_m(\eta,q)} \right) \log(\frac{e^{\xi}}{e^{\xi_i}})],$$
(3.68)

for non-uniform flow $w = A \sin \xi \cos \eta$. It is clear from Eqs. (3.66)-(3.68) that the structure of the solution $z(\xi, \eta)$ remains intact. In fact, only $T_{mn}(\xi, \eta)$ part of the solutions (i.e. Eqs. (3.65) and (3.67)) are affected with respect to the varying viscous flows. In particular, by adding Eqs. (3.65) and (3.67), we find

$$T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} -\frac{1}{\lambda \pi^{2}} \frac{\nu A(1+\sin\xi\cos\eta)e^{-\xi}Ke_{m}(\xi,q)}{h^{3}(\xi,\eta)} \\ *[\pi + e^{-\xi} \frac{\partial^{2}ce_{m}(\eta,q)}{\partial \eta^{2}}ce_{n}(\eta,q)]d\xi d\eta.$$
(3.69)

The above is the same as the solution obtained from the dual source problem (Eq. (3.64) and Fig. 3.9). This, in turn, suggests that the solutions of dual source problems can be obtained directly from the solutions of single source problems (see, also, Figs. 3.9 and 3.12) via simple summations. In other words, the principle of superposition remains valid even with the presence of intra-membrane viscous flows and interaction forces. The result may further promote the study of various different influences of viscous flows onto membrane-substrate systems by minimizing computational complexities and resources.



Figure 3.9: Membrane shape evolutions with dual source viscous effects: $w(\xi, \eta) = A + A \sin \xi \cos \eta$

3.4.4 Reduction to the circular lipid membrane problems

The solution of a classical membrane-substrate problem [20] can also be obtained directly from the present model. To demonstrate this, we evaluate (when e = 0)

$$h(\xi_{i},\eta) = a(1-e^{2}\cos^{2}\eta)^{\frac{1}{2}} = a, \ ce_{m}(\eta,q) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \ (\text{for } m=0),$$

$$ce_{m}(\eta,q) = \cos m\theta \ (\text{for } m\neq 0) \tag{3.70}$$

$$Ke_{m}(\eta,q) = G_{m}K_{m}(\mu r) \text{ and } Ke'_{m}(\eta,q) = \mu G_{m}K'_{m}(\mu r),$$

where a, m, and $K_m(\mu\rho)$ are the radius of the inner circle, the separation constant and the modified Bessel function of second kind of order m, respectively. Also, $r = ce^{\xi}/2$ and G_m are arbitrary constants with respect to the order m.



Single Source Wave Radial and Transverse μc =0.3, A=10^{-9}

Figure 3.10: Decomposed solutions of the shape evolution: w = A (Left); $w = A \sin \xi \cos \eta$ (Right)

Now, substituting the above into Eq. (3.51) yields

$$T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) = T_m(\mu a) = G_m \frac{\nu}{\pi^2 \lambda} \frac{1}{a^3} \left[-\pi \frac{1}{a} K_m(\mu r) + \frac{1}{a} K_m(\mu r) \right] \equiv \frac{1}{a} \mathbf{A} G_m, \quad (3.71)$$

where we define $\mathbf{A} = \frac{\nu}{\pi^2 \lambda} \frac{1}{a^3} K_m(\mu r) [1 - \pi]$. Thus, from Eqs. (3.57) and (3.71) we find

$$z(\xi,\eta) = z(r) = \frac{2\sigma a G_m}{k\mu^3 G_m K'_m(\mu a)} [K_m(\mu r) - K_m(\mu a)] - (\frac{2\sigma}{k\mu^2} + \frac{2\sigma K_m(\mu a) G_m}{k\mu^3 \frac{1}{\rho_0} G_m K'_m(\mu a)}) \log(\frac{r}{a}).$$
(3.72)

But, since $G_m/G_m = 1$, Eq. (3.71) further reduces to

$$z(r) = \frac{2\sigma}{k\mu^2} \left[\left(\frac{K_m(\mu r) - K_m(\mu a)}{\mu K'_m(\mu a)} \right) a - \left(1 + \frac{K_m(\mu a)a}{\mu K'_m(\mu a)} \right) \log(\frac{r}{a}) \right].$$
(3.73)



Figure 3.11: Case study (Single source problem): experimental results comparisions. (*Picture taken from: Zhao, Y., et al. 2011*)

Finally, we substitute $\mu^2 = 2\lambda/k$ in the above and thereby obtain

$$z(r) = \frac{2\sigma a}{k\mu^3 K_0'(\mu a)} [K_0(\mu r) - K_0(\mu a)] - \frac{\sigma a}{\lambda} (1 + \frac{K_0(\mu a)}{\mu K_0'(\mu a)}) \log(\frac{r}{a}).$$
(3.74)

The obtained solution in Eq. (3.74) is the same as in [20](Eq. 135), except the Bessel terms associated with the logarithmic function (i.e. $\frac{K_0(\mu a)}{\mu K'_0(\mu a)} \log(\frac{r}{a})$).

Remark. 3.

The method proposed in the present study is unique in that it utilizes both the iterative reduction scheme and the method of eigenfunction expansions while invoking the orthogonal properties of the Mathieu function. This further allows one to identify more wide class of potential functions of Mathieu type that the



Figure 3.12: Case study (Dual source problem): experimental results comparisons. (*Picture taken from: Zhao, Y., et al. 2011*)

traditional method is limited in prediction. Further, since the Mathieu potential reduces to the Bessel function at the particular configuration of e = 0; i.e.,

$$Ke_m(\eta, q) = G_m K_m(\mu r)$$
 and $Ke'_m(\eta, q) = \mu G_m K'_m(\mu r)$ for $e = 0,$ (3.75)

the solutions of circular substrate interaction problems [20] and [27] can be accommodated by the proposed model as a special case (i.e. e = 0, see, Fig. 3.8 and 3.13.). In fact, Eq. (3.74) yields better predictions (slightly more resemble to the non-linear solution) when compared with the existing results (see, Fig. 3.13). This is due the presence of additionally predicted Bessel terms which cannot be obtained by the classical Helmholtz equations defined in the circular system. This further allows one to consider more general, and perhaps more realistic classes of viscous flows especially those arising in circular boundaries. For example, in circular problems, the generalization of the viscous potential Eq. (3.35) and the implementation of dual source flow Eq. (3.63) is no longer possible due to the confined descriptions of the associated circular boundary (see. Remark. 1.). Such difficulties can be overcome by creating desired forms of viscous flows in an elliptic coordinate where the corresponding continuity equation is the same form as in the Cartesian coordinate (i.e. $v_{\xi,\xi} + v_{\eta,\eta} = 0$, see, Eq. (3.34)), and reducing the obtained solutions to the circular cases where the transition is always possible since the conformal mapping of an ellipse to a circle exists [70]. The results obtained in



Figure 3.13: Comparison with existing models: membrane-circular substrate interaction problem. (*Picture taken from: Agrawal, A., et al. 2009*)

the present study are of more practical interest in that, when used in conjunction with the principle of superposition (see. Remark. 2.), they essentially lead to the solution of a class of problems in which the viscous effects are characterized by a much wider and more realistic class of functions. Potential applications may be extended to retina clinical study of wrinkle-caused vision impairment [52] and the effects of viscous flows on essential cellular functions such as fusion, fission and vesicle formation [53], [71] and [72]. For example, the idiopathic epiretinal membranes (iERMs) is a common pathology which have been observed in more than 20% of eyes from elderly person [52] and [73]. When iERMs are thicker with contractile properties, they cause surface wrinkling of the retina resulting impaired vision (a macular epiretinal membrane) [52] and [74]. Such wrinkle formations are most often induced by the interactions between the posterior vitreous cortex and the retina [75]. Since nearly all the emmetropic retinas are oblate in shape in both transverse axial and sagittal sections [76], the wrinkle formations on the retina may share close similarity to the elliptical membrane-substrate systems examined by the proposed model. In addition, wrinkle involved deformations and the directional elongation of the vesicle are often caused by the viscous shear flows and/or directional viscous flows [71]-[72]. Therefore, the proposed model may be employed to study the morphological transitions of cell membranes associated with those cellular activities.

CHAPTER 4

MODELLING OF LIPID MEMBRANES AFFECTED BY GENERAL FORMS OF INTRA-MEMBRANE VISCOUS FLOWS, INTERACTIONS WITH ELLIPTICAL-CROSS-SECTION SUBSTRATES AND THICKNESS DISTENSIONS

In this chapter, we develop a theoretical model of lipid membranes subjected to intra-membrane viscous flows, interactions of elliptical-cross-section substrates and thickness distensions. Starting from the purely elastic surface theory, we introduce the distension terms and new energy density functions and implement them in the following derivations. Rigorous derivations are made to obtain the membrane shape equations and the corresponding boundary conditions. Then, we employ the admissible linearization techniques for the systems of membrane shape equations and boundary conditions and transform them into the elliptical domain. Lastly, by employing adapted iterative reduction and the method of eigenfunction expansion, we solve the systems of equations (membrane shape equations and boundary conditions) and obtain the corresponding analytical solutions in the forms of Mathieu functions.

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we develop a theoretical model of lipid membranes subjected to intra-membrane viscous flows, interactions of elliptical-cross-section substrates and thickness distensions. In section 4.2, we introduce the distension terms and new energy density functions and utilize them in the following derivations. Then we incorporate the viscous effects and obtain the membrane shape equations and corresponding boundary conditions in section 4.3. In section 4.4.1, we linearize the nonlinear systems of equations obtained (membrane shape equations and boundary conditions) via Monge parameterization and admissible linearization. They are successively transformed into the elliptical domain in section 4.4.2. Lastly, by employing the adaptive iteration reduction and the principle of eigenfunction expansion, we obtain an analytical solution in the forms of Mathieu functions in section 4.4.3.

4.2 Inviscid lipid membranes with thickness distensions

To accommodate distension effects, we introduce

$$\nabla \phi(\theta^{\alpha}) = \phi_{,\alpha} \mathbf{a}^{\alpha} \text{ and } G^2 = \nabla \phi \cdot \nabla \phi = a^{\alpha\beta} \phi_{,\alpha} \phi_{,\beta}, \tag{4.1}$$

where ϕ is the lipid distension in the current membrane surface ω , $G = |\nabla \phi|$ and $\nabla \phi$ is the gradient of ϕ and

$$\lambda = -q\phi(\theta^{\alpha}),\tag{4.2}$$

where λ is a constitutively indeterminate Lagrange-multiplier field related to the lipid membrane surface area constraint [77], q is the Lagrange multiplier field related to the incompressibility constraint.

Then, we propose the energy density function as

$$W = W(H, K, \phi, G; a_{\alpha\beta}, b_{\alpha\beta}).$$

$$(4.3)$$

Since $\phi(\theta^{\alpha})$ is depends specifically on the surface coordinates θ^{α} (i.e. $W_{\phi} \frac{\partial \phi}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} = 0$), we evaluate

$$\rho \frac{\partial \frac{1}{\rho} (W - \gamma)}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} = \rho \left[-\rho^{-2} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} W + \frac{1}{\rho} (W_{\rho} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} + W_{H} \frac{\partial H}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} + W_{K} \frac{\partial K}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} + W_{G} \frac{\partial G}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} \right] + \rho^{-2} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} \gamma - \frac{1}{\rho} \frac{\partial \gamma}{\partial \rho} \frac{\partial \rho}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} \left[(4.4) \right]$$

The derivatives of ρ , H, K and G with respect to $a_{\alpha\beta}$ can be evaluated as [35]

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} = -\frac{\rho}{2}a^{\alpha\beta}, \ \frac{\partial H}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} = -\frac{1}{2}b^{\alpha\beta} \text{ and } \frac{\partial K}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} = -Ka^{\alpha\beta}, \tag{4.5}$$

In particular, we find

$$\frac{\partial G^2}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} = \frac{\partial a^{\lambda\mu}\phi_{,\lambda}\phi_{,\mu}}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}},\tag{4.6}$$

using Chain rule, the above becomes

$$\frac{\partial G^2}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} = 2\frac{\partial G^2}{\partial G}\frac{\partial G}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} = \phi_{,\lambda}\phi_{,\mu}\frac{\partial a^{\lambda\mu}}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} = \phi_{,\lambda}\phi_{,\mu}(\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha}\varepsilon^{\mu\beta} - a^{\lambda\mu}a^{\alpha\beta}).$$
(4.7)

Thus we obtain

$$\frac{\partial G}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} = -\frac{1}{2} G^{-1} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu\beta} - a^{\lambda\mu} a^{\alpha\beta}).$$
(4.8)

Accordingly, Eq. (4.4) reduces to

$$\rho \frac{\partial \frac{1}{\rho} (W - \gamma)}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} = \rho \left[\frac{1}{2\rho} a^{\alpha\beta} W - \frac{1}{2} a^{\alpha\beta} W_{\rho} - \frac{1}{2\rho} b^{\alpha\beta} W_{H} - \frac{1}{\rho} W_{K} K a^{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2\rho} W_{G} G^{-1} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu\beta} - a^{\lambda\mu} a^{\alpha\beta}) - \frac{1}{2\rho} a^{\alpha\beta} \gamma + \gamma_{\rho} \frac{1}{2} a^{\alpha\beta} \right].$$
(4.9)

Now using $F_{\rho} = (W/\rho - \gamma/\rho)_{,\rho}$ (i.e. $W_{\rho} = \rho F_{\rho} + \frac{W}{\rho} + \gamma_{\rho} - \frac{\gamma}{\rho}$), we obtain

$$\rho \frac{\partial \frac{1}{\rho} (W - \gamma)}{\partial a_{\alpha\beta}} = \left[-\frac{1}{2} b^{\alpha\beta} W_H - W_K K a^{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2} W_G G^{-1} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu\beta} - a^{\lambda\mu} a^{\alpha\beta}) - \frac{1}{2} a^{\alpha\beta} \rho^2 F_{\rho} \right]$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \gamma a^{\alpha\beta} - (W_H H + W_K K) a^{\alpha\beta} - \frac{1}{2} W_G G^{-1} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu\beta} - a^{\lambda\mu} a^{\alpha\beta}) + \frac{1}{2} W_H \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta},$$
(4.10)

where F_{ρ} is defined via the relation $\rho^2 F_{\rho} = \gamma$ [35] and $b^{\alpha\beta} = 2Ha^{\alpha\beta} - \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}$. Thus,

$$\sigma^{\beta\alpha} = (\lambda + W)a^{\alpha\beta} - (2W_H H + 2W_K K)a^{\alpha\beta} + W_G G^{-1}\phi_{,\lambda}\phi_{,\mu}(\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha}\varepsilon^{\mu\beta} - a^{\lambda\mu}a^{\alpha\beta}) + W_H \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (4.11)$$

and

$$\lambda = -(\gamma + W). \tag{4.12}$$

Similarly, by using

$$\frac{\partial \rho}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = 0, \ \frac{\partial H}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = \frac{1}{2} a^{\alpha\beta}, \ \frac{\partial K}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}, \tag{4.13}$$

and

$$\frac{\partial G^2}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = \frac{\partial a^{\lambda\mu}\phi_{,\lambda}\phi_{,\mu}}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = 0 \ (\because \frac{\partial a^{\lambda\mu}}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = 0 \text{ and } \frac{\partial \phi_{,\mu}}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = 0) \text{ Thus } \frac{\partial G}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = 0.$$
(4.14)

We evaluate

$$\frac{\partial_{\rho}^{1}(W-\gamma)}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = W_{H}\frac{\partial H}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} + W_{K}\frac{\partial K}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} + W_{G}\frac{\partial G}{\partial b_{\alpha\beta}} = \frac{1}{2}W_{H}a^{\alpha\beta} + W_{K}\tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}, \quad (4.15)$$

and subsequently obtain from Eq. (2.26) and $(2.10)_2$ that

$$M^{\beta\alpha} = \frac{1}{2} W_H a^{\alpha\beta} + W_K \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}.$$
(4.16)

4.3 Viscous lipid membranes with thickness distensions

Combining Eqs. (4.11-4.12), (3.1) and (3.5), we find

$$\sigma^{\beta\alpha} = (\lambda + W)a^{\beta\alpha} - (2W_H H + 2W_K K)a^{\beta\alpha} + W_G G^{-1} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu\beta} - a^{\lambda\mu} a^{\alpha\beta}) + W_H \tilde{b}^{\beta\alpha} + \nu [a^{\beta\lambda} a^{\alpha\mu} (v_{\mu;\lambda} + v_{\lambda;\mu}) - 4w H a^{\beta\alpha} + 2w \tilde{b}^{\beta\alpha}].$$
(4.17)

In terms of the distension term $W_G G^{-1} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda \alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu \beta} - a^{\lambda \mu} a^{\alpha \beta})$, we evaluate

$$[W_G G^{-1} \phi_{\lambda} \phi_{\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda \alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu \beta} - a^{\lambda \mu} a^{\alpha \beta})] b_{\beta \alpha} = W_G G^{-1} \phi_{\lambda} \phi_{\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda \alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu \beta} - a^{\lambda \mu} a^{\alpha \beta}) b_{\beta \alpha}, \quad (4.18)$$

Since $\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha}\varepsilon^{\mu\beta}b_{\beta\alpha} = \tilde{b}^{\lambda\mu}$ and $a^{\lambda\mu}a^{\alpha\beta}b_{\beta\alpha} = b^{\lambda\mu}$, the above equation can be derived as

$$W_G G^{-1} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda \alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu \beta} - a^{\lambda \mu} a^{\alpha \beta}) b_{\beta \alpha} = W_G G^{-1} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi_{,\mu} (\tilde{b}^{\lambda \mu} - b^{\lambda \mu})$$
$$= W_G G^{-1} \phi_{,\alpha} \phi_{,\beta} (\tilde{b}^{\alpha \beta} - b^{\alpha \beta}). \quad (4.19)$$

Substituting Eqs. (4.16), (4.17) and (4.19) into Eq. (2.30), we obtain the normal equation of motion as

$$p = -(\lambda + W)a^{\beta\alpha}b_{\beta\alpha} + (W_H H + W_K K)a^{\beta\alpha}b_{\beta\alpha}$$
$$+G^{-1}W_G\phi_{,\alpha}\phi_{,\beta}(\tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta} - b^{\alpha\beta})$$
$$-\frac{1}{2}W_H\tilde{b}^{\beta\alpha}b_{\beta\alpha} + [\frac{1}{2}(W_H)_{;\beta}a^{\beta\alpha} + (W_K)_{;\beta}\tilde{b}^{\beta\alpha}]_{;\alpha}$$
$$-\nu[a^{\beta\lambda}a^{\alpha\mu}(v_{\mu;\lambda} + v_{\lambda;\mu}) - 4wHa^{\beta\alpha} + 2w\tilde{b}^{\beta\alpha}]b_{\beta\alpha}.$$
(4.20)

Utilizing the identities $H = \frac{1}{2}a^{\alpha\beta}b_{\alpha\beta}$, $b_{\beta\alpha} = b^{\mu}_{\alpha}a_{\mu\beta}$, $a^{\alpha\lambda}a_{\lambda\beta} = \delta^{\alpha}_{\beta}$ and $a^{\beta\alpha}K = b^{\beta}_{\mu}\tilde{b}^{\mu\alpha}$ and combining the fact that covariant derivatives of the dual metric and the covariant cofactor identically vanish (i.e. $a^{\alpha\beta}_{;\beta} = 0$, $\tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}_{;\beta} = 0$), the above equation further reduces to

$$p = W_H (2H^2 - K) + 2H(W_K K - W) + G^{-1} W_G \phi_{,\alpha} \phi_{,\beta} (b^{\alpha\beta} - \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta})$$

$$-2\lambda H + \Delta (\frac{1}{2} W_H) + (W_K)_{;\alpha\beta} \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}$$

$$-2\nu [\frac{1}{2} b^{\alpha\beta} (v_{\alpha;\beta} + v_{\beta;\alpha}) - 2w(2H^2 - K)], \qquad (4.21)$$

where Δ is the Laplace-Beltrami operator (i.e. $\Delta \phi = \phi_{;\alpha\beta} a^{\alpha\beta}$) defined on the surface.

In order to obtain the tangential equation of motion, we compute

$$(\sigma^{\beta\alpha})_{;\alpha} = [(\lambda + W)a^{\beta\alpha} - (2W_H H + 2W_K K)a^{\beta\alpha} + W_H \tilde{b}^{\beta\alpha}]_{;\alpha} - [W_G G^{-1} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu\beta} - a^{\lambda\mu} a^{\alpha\beta})]_{;\beta}, \quad (4.22)$$

Since

$$\varepsilon_{;\beta}^{\lambda\alpha} = 0 \text{ and } a_{;\beta}^{\lambda\mu} = 0,$$
(4.23)

We find

$$(\sigma^{\beta\alpha})_{;\alpha} = (\lambda_{,\alpha} + W_{,\alpha})a^{\beta\alpha} - [2(W_H)_{;\alpha}H + 2W_HH_{,\alpha} + 2(W_K)_{;\alpha}K + 2W_KK_{,\alpha}]a^{\beta\alpha} + (W_H)_{;\alpha}\tilde{b}^{\beta\alpha} - [(W_GG^{-1})_{;\beta}\phi_{,\lambda}\phi_{,\mu}(\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha}\varepsilon^{\mu\beta} - a^{\lambda\mu}a^{\alpha\beta}) + W_GG^{-1}(\phi_{,\lambda})_{;\beta}\phi_{,\mu}(\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha}\varepsilon^{\mu\beta} - a^{\lambda\mu}a^{\alpha\beta}) + W_GG^{-1}\phi_{,\lambda}(\phi_{,\mu})_{;\beta}(\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha}\varepsilon^{\mu\beta} - a^{\lambda\mu}a^{\alpha\beta})],$$
(4.24)

By substituting Eqs. (4.16) and (4.24) into Eq. (2.31), we obtain

$$0 = -(\gamma_{,\alpha} + W_K K_{,\alpha} + W_H H_{,\alpha}) a^{\beta\alpha} - (W_G G^{-1})_{;\beta} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu\beta} - a^{\lambda\mu} a^{\alpha\beta}) -2W_G G^{-1}(\phi_{,\lambda})_{;\beta} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu\beta} - a^{\lambda\mu} a^{\alpha\beta}) - 4\nu w H_{,\alpha} a^{\beta\alpha}$$
(4.25)
$$+2\nu [\frac{1}{2} a^{\beta\lambda} a^{\alpha\mu} (v_{\mu;\lambda} + v_{\lambda;\mu})_{;\alpha} - w_{,\alpha} b^{\beta\alpha}],$$

where $(v_{\mu;\lambda} + v_{\lambda;\mu})_{;\alpha} = (v_{\mu;\lambda} + v_{\lambda;\mu})_{,\alpha} - (v_{\beta;\lambda} + v_{\lambda;\beta})\Gamma^{\beta}_{\mu\alpha} - (v_{\beta;\mu} + v_{\mu;\beta})\Gamma^{\beta}_{\lambda\alpha}$. Invoking $b^{\beta\alpha} = b^{\alpha}_{\lambda}a^{\lambda\beta}$ and $\gamma_{,\alpha} = -\lambda_{,\alpha} - W_K K_{,\alpha} - W_H H_{,\alpha}$, Eq. (4.25) further reduces to

$$0 = a^{\beta\alpha} [-(W_G G^{-1})_{;\beta} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu\beta} a_{\beta\alpha} - a^{\lambda\mu}) -2W_G G^{-1} (\phi_{,\lambda})_{;\beta} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda\alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu\beta} a_{\beta\alpha} - a^{\lambda\mu})] a^{\beta\alpha} [\lambda_{,\alpha} - 4vw H_{,\alpha} + 2\nu \{\frac{1}{2} a^{\lambda\mu} (v_{\mu;\alpha} + v_{\alpha;\mu})_{;\lambda} - w_{,\lambda} b^{\lambda}_{\alpha}\}].$$
(4.26)

In the above derivation, we also used $a^{\beta\alpha}a_{\beta\alpha} = (a^{\beta\alpha})^{-1}a_{\beta\alpha} = 1$. Since $a^{\beta\alpha} \neq 0$, the
above equation becomes

$$0 = \lambda_{,\alpha} - 4vwH_{,\alpha} - (W_G G^{-1})_{;\beta} \phi_{,\lambda} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda \alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu \beta} a_{\beta \alpha} - a^{\lambda \mu}) -2W_G G^{-1}(\phi_{,\lambda})_{;\beta} \phi_{,\mu} (\varepsilon^{\lambda \alpha} \varepsilon^{\mu \beta} a_{\beta \alpha} - a^{\lambda \mu}) +2\nu [\frac{1}{2} a^{\lambda \mu} (v_{\mu;\alpha} + v_{\alpha;\mu})_{;\lambda} - w_{,\lambda} b^{\lambda}_{\alpha}],$$

$$(4.27)$$

which serves as the tangential equation of motion.

The energy density W of uniform membranes of the Helfrich type is given by [39] as

$$W = kH^{2} + \bar{k}K + F(\phi) + \sigma G^{2}, \qquad (4.28)$$

where k and \bar{k} are empirical constants (the bending moduli). Subsequently, invoking Eq. (4.28), Eq. (4.21) yields

$$p = k[\Delta H + 2H(H^2 - K)] - 2\lambda H$$

$$-2v[\frac{1}{2}b^{\alpha\beta}(v_{\alpha;\beta} + v_{\beta;\alpha}) - 2w(2H^2 - K)]$$

$$-2\sigma HG^2 + 2\sigma\phi_{,\alpha}\phi_{,\beta}(b^{\alpha\beta} - \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}), \qquad (4.29)$$

while Eq. (4.27) remains intact. Substituting Eq.(4.2) into Eq.(4.29) furnishes

$$p = k[\Delta H + 2H(H^{2} - K)] + 2q\phi H - 2v[\frac{1}{2}b^{\alpha\beta}(v_{\alpha;\beta} + v_{\beta;\alpha}) \qquad (4.30)$$
$$-2w(2H^{2} - K)] - 2\sigma HG^{2} + 2\sigma\phi_{,\alpha}\phi_{,\beta}(b^{\alpha\beta} - \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}).$$

In addition, the incompressibility condition of viscous flow is given from the Chapter 3 (see Eq. (3.11)) as

$$v^{\alpha}_{;\alpha} - 2wH = 0. \tag{4.31}$$

The Euler equation related to distension is given by [39] as

$$W_{\varphi} - q = (G^{-1}W_G a^{\alpha\beta}\phi_{,\beta})_{;\alpha}.$$
(4.32)

4.4 Linear Analysis

4.4.1 Linearization of the terms related to thickness distension

We plug Eq. (3.16) and Eq. (4.1)₂ into the distension terms $(-2\sigma HG^2 + 2\sigma\phi_{,\alpha}\phi_{,\beta}(b^{\alpha\beta} - \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}))$ of Eq. (4.30) and obtain

$$-2\sigma HG^{2} + 2\sigma\phi_{,\alpha}\phi_{,\beta}(b^{\alpha\beta} - \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}) = -\sigma\phi_{,\alpha}\phi_{,\beta}a^{\alpha\beta}\Delta z \qquad (4.33)$$
$$+2\sigma\phi_{,\alpha}\phi_{,\beta}(b^{\alpha\beta} - \tilde{b}^{\alpha\beta}),$$

Then, by substituting the linearized expressions (Eqs. (3.16),(3.22),(3.25) and (3.58)) into Eqs. (4.32),(4.30),(4.31) and (4.27), we obtain:

$$\frac{1}{2}k\Delta_p(\Delta_p z) + q\varphi\Delta_p z - 2\upsilon z_{,\alpha\beta}\,\nu_{\alpha,\beta} - \sigma\phi_{,\alpha}\phi_{,\beta}a^{\alpha\beta}\Delta z + 2\sigma b^{\alpha\beta}\phi_{,\alpha}\phi_{,\beta} \simeq p,$$
$$(\lambda + P)_{,\alpha} + \nu\Delta_p v_{\alpha} \simeq 0, \ v_{\alpha,\alpha} \simeq 0 \ \text{and} \ 2\sigma a^{\beta\alpha}\phi_{,\beta\alpha} \simeq 0.$$
(4.34)

4.4.2 Formulations in the elliptical coordinates

Invoking Eqs. (3.31), (3.32) and (3.42), Eq. (4.34) can be transformed into the elliptical domain as

$$0 = \frac{1}{2}k\Delta(\Delta z) + q\phi\Delta z + \frac{\sigma}{h^{2}(\xi,\eta)}(\phi_{,\xi}\phi_{,\xi} + \phi_{,\eta}\phi_{,\eta})\Delta z + \frac{2\sigma}{h^{4}(\xi,\eta)}(\phi_{,\xi}\phi_{,\xi}z_{,\xi\xi} + 2\phi_{,\xi}\phi_{,\eta}z_{,\xi\eta} + \phi_{,\eta}\phi_{,\eta}z_{,\eta\eta}) - \frac{2\upsilon}{h^{3}(\xi,\eta)}(z_{,\xi\xi}\nu_{\xi,\xi} + 2z_{,\xi\eta}\nu_{\xi,\eta} + z_{,\eta\eta}\nu_{\eta,\eta}),$$

$$0 = \frac{2\sigma}{h^{2}(\xi,\eta)}[\phi_{,\xi\xi} + \phi_{,\eta\eta}], \qquad (4.35)$$

subjected to (the associated boundary conditions remain the same as the boundary conditions in Chapter 3)

$$z(\xi_0,\eta) = 0, \ \nabla z(\xi_0,\eta) = 0 \text{ and } \frac{1}{h} \frac{\partial}{\partial \xi} H(\xi_0,\eta) = \frac{\sigma}{k}.$$
 (4.36)

Here, Eqs. (4.35-4.36) serve as the linearized shape equation system which describes the morphologies of lipid membranes subjected to general forms of intramembrane viscous flows, membrane-substrate interactions and thickness distensions.

4.4.3 Solutions to the linearized systems

Similar to the methods utilized in section 3.3.4 (Chapter 3), the form of the solution $z(\xi, \eta)$ is obtained as

$$z(\xi,\eta) = \frac{2}{\mu^2} H(\xi,\eta) + B_m + \varphi(\xi,\eta),$$
(4.37)

and $\varphi(\xi,\eta)$ is chosen as

$$\varphi(\xi,\eta) = C_m \log(e^{\xi}/e^{\xi_0}) + D_m \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} e^{-\xi} c e_m(\eta,\underline{q}), \qquad (4.38)$$

to meet the boundary conditions from Eq. (4.36). The unknown potential $H(\xi, \eta)$ can be expressed as [57]

$$H(\xi,\eta) \equiv \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_m K e_m(\xi,\underline{q}) c e_n(\eta,\underline{q}) T_{mn}(\xi,\eta), \qquad (4.39)$$

where $ce_n(\eta, \underline{q})$ and $Ke_m(\xi, \underline{q})$ are the even modified Mathieu functions of the first and second kind, respectively, and the associated parameter \underline{q} [58] is of the form

$$\underline{q} = \frac{c^2 [q\phi + \frac{\sigma}{h^2} (\phi_{,\xi} \phi_{,\xi} + \phi_{,\eta} \phi_{,\eta})]}{4k}, \qquad (4.40)$$

Now, we substitute Eqs. (3.34) and (4.39) into Eq. $(4.35)_1$ and simplify it based on the orthogonality properties of the Mathieu function; i.e.

$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} ce_m(\eta, \underline{q}) ce_n(\eta, \underline{q}) d\eta = \int_{0}^{2\pi} Ke_m(\xi, \underline{q}) Ke_n(\xi, \underline{q}) d\xi = \pi \delta_{mn}, \text{ and}$$
$$\int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} Ke_m(\xi, \underline{q}) ce_n(\eta, \underline{q}) Ke_k(\xi, \underline{q}) ce_l(\eta, \underline{q}) d\xi d\eta = \pi \delta_{mk}, \tag{4.41}$$

the expression of T_{mn} can be derived as

$$T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) = \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{0}^{2\pi} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} -\frac{2\sigma}{\pi h^{4}(\xi,\eta) [2q\phi + \frac{2\sigma}{h^{2}}(\phi_{,\xi}\phi_{,\xi} + \phi_{,\eta}\phi_{,\eta})]} (\phi_{,\xi}\phi_{,\xi}z_{,\xi\xi} + 2\phi_{,\xi}\phi_{,\eta}z_{,\xi\eta} + \phi_{,\eta}\phi_{,\eta}z_{,\eta\eta}) Ke_{m}(\xi,\underline{q})ce_{n}(\eta,\underline{q}) + \frac{4\upsilon}{\pi h^{3}(\xi,\eta) [2q\phi + \frac{2\sigma}{h^{2}}(\phi_{,\xi}\phi_{,\xi} + \phi_{,\eta}\phi_{,\eta})]} * \\[(-e^{-\xi}\frac{\partial ce_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})}{\partial\eta} Ke_{m}(\xi,\underline{q})ce_{n}(\eta,\underline{q}))(\frac{\partial\int w(\xi,\eta)d\xi}{\partial\eta} + \frac{\partial\int -w(\xi,\eta)d\eta}{\partial\xi}) + \{e^{-\xi}\pi Ke_{m}(\xi,\underline{q}) - (4.42) \\+ e^{-\xi}\frac{\partial^{2}ce_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})}{\partial\eta^{2}} Ke_{m}(\xi,q)ce_{n}(\eta,q)\}w(\xi,\eta)]d\xi d\eta.$$

Consequently, by combining the Eqs. (4.37),(4.38)-(4.39) and (4.42), the general solution is obtained as

$$z(\xi,\eta) = \frac{2}{\mu^2} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} [A_m K e_m(\xi,\underline{q}) c e_m(\eta,\underline{q}) T_{mn}(\xi,\eta) + B_m \qquad (4.43) + C_m \log(e^{\xi}/e^{\xi_0}) + D_m e^{-\xi} c e_m(\eta,\underline{q})],$$

where A_m, B_m, C_m and D_m are

$$\begin{split} A_{m} &= \frac{4(-1)^{\frac{m-1}{2}}\sigma\cos(\frac{m\pi}{20}\xi)h(\xi_{0},\eta)}{m\pi k(Ke_{m}(\xi_{0},\underline{q})ce_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})T'_{\xi}(\xi_{0},\eta) + ce_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})Ke'_{m}(\xi_{0},\underline{q})T_{mn}(\xi_{0},\eta))},\\ B_{m} &= \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{8\sigma(-1)^{\frac{m-1}{2}}\cos(\frac{m\pi}{20}\xi)ce_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})h(\xi_{0},\eta)Ke_{m}(\xi_{0},\underline{q})T'_{\eta}(\xi_{0},\eta)}{m\pi kce'_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})\mu^{2}(Ke_{m}(\xi_{0},\underline{q})T'_{\xi}(\xi_{0},\eta) + Ke'_{m}(\xi_{0},\underline{q})T_{mn}(\xi_{0},\eta))},\\ C_{m} &= \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} 8\sigma(-1)^{\frac{m-1}{2}}\cos(\frac{m\pi}{20}\xi)Ke_{m}(\xi_{0},\underline{q})h(\xi_{0},\eta)\{ce_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})T'_{\eta}(\xi_{0},\eta) + ce'_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})T_{mn}(\xi_{0},\eta)\} *\\ &\{-\mu^{2} + 2Ke_{m}(\xi_{0},\underline{q})e^{\xi_{0}}T'_{\xi}(\xi_{0},\eta) + 2Ke'_{m}(\xi_{0},\underline{q})e^{\xi_{0}}T_{mn}(\xi_{0},\eta)\}\\ &/[m\pi kce'_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})\mu^{4}\{Ke_{m}(\xi_{0},\underline{q})T'_{\xi}(\xi_{0},\eta) + Ke'_{m}(\xi_{0},\underline{q})T_{mn}(\xi_{0},\eta)\}], \end{split}$$

and

$$D_{m} = -\frac{8\sigma(-1)^{\frac{m-1}{2}}\cos(\frac{m\pi}{20}\xi)Ke_{m}(\xi_{0},\underline{q})h(\xi_{0},\eta)e^{\xi_{0}}}{m\pi kce'_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})\mu^{2}}$$

$$\frac{ce_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})T'_{\eta}(\xi_{0},\eta) + ce'_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})T_{mn}(\xi_{0},\eta)}{Ke_{m}(\xi_{0},\underline{q})ce_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})T'_{\xi}(\xi_{0},\eta) + ce_{m}(\eta,\underline{q})Ke'_{m}(\xi_{0},\underline{q})T_{mn}(\xi_{0},\eta)},$$
(4.44)

where

$$\begin{aligned} Ke'_m(\xi,\underline{q}) &= \frac{\partial Ke_m(\xi,\underline{q})}{\partial \xi}, \ ce'_m(\eta,\underline{q}) = \frac{\partial ce_m(\eta,\underline{q})}{\partial \eta} \\ T'_{\xi}(\xi,\eta) &= \frac{\partial T_{mn}(\xi,\eta)}{\partial \xi}, \ T'_{\eta}(\xi,\eta) = \frac{\partial T_{mn}(\xi,\eta)}{\partial \eta} \\ T'_{\xi}(\xi_0,\eta) &= \left[\frac{\partial T_{mn}(\xi,\eta)}{\partial \xi}\right]_{\xi=\xi_0} \ \text{and} \ T'_{\eta}(\xi_0,\eta) = \frac{\partial T_{mn}(\xi_0,\eta)}{\partial \eta} \end{aligned}$$

The general solution is obtained as

$$z = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{4}{m\pi} (-1)^{\frac{m-1}{2}} \cos(\frac{m\pi}{20}\xi) \{ \frac{2\sigma h(\xi_0, \eta)}{\mu^2 k \sigma_2} (Ke_m(\xi, \underline{q}) T_{mn}(\xi, \eta) - Ke_m(\xi_0, \underline{q}) T_{mn}(\xi_0, \eta)) - (\frac{2h(\xi_0, \eta)\sigma}{\mu^2 k} + \frac{2\sigma h(\xi_0, \eta) (Ke_m(\xi_0, \underline{q})ce_m(\eta, \underline{q}) T'_{\eta}(\xi_0, \eta) + Ke_m(\xi_0, \underline{q})ce'_m(\eta, \underline{q}) T_{mn}(\xi_0, \eta))}{\mu^2 k ce'_m(\eta, \underline{q}) \sigma_2}) \log(e^{\xi}/e^{\xi_0}) \},$$

$$(4.45)$$

where

$$\sigma_2 = [Ke'_m(\xi_0, \underline{q})T_{mn}(\xi_0, \eta) + Ke_m(\xi_0, \underline{q})T'_{\xi}(\xi, \eta)].$$

CHAPTER 5

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE WORK

5.1 Conclusion

In this thesis, we develop a continuum-based theoretical model to analyze the mechanical responses of lipid membranes subjected to specific practical factors (intra-membrane viscous flows, membrane-substrate interactions, thickness distensions). Starting from the modelling of the inviscid fluid membrane, we add the considerations of intra-membrane viscous flows and thickness distensions. Interdisciplinary concepts and methods (e.g., eigenfunction expansion, the theory of elastic surface) are adopted to obtain the constitutive equations of the membranes and their solutions within the framework of the present study. In particular, this research illustrates the appearance of the wrinkling phenomena under the impacts of uniform, non-uniform and dual source types of viscous flows. We find that uniform, non-uniform types of viscous flows give rise to wrinkles phenomena in radial and transverse directions on the membranes' surfaces, respectively. When we input dual source types of viscous flows into the proposed solutions, both radial and transverse wrinkles are observed, which illustrates that the principle of superposition remains valid. We find that the intensity of viscous flows and the radius of the inner ellipse of membranes are the key factors to impact the vertical length of the induced wrinkles. More importantly, the proposed solutions are able to accommodate various types of viscous flows, which means the class of membranesubstrate interaction problems subjected to viscous flows can be solved utilizing the proposed solutions. This thesis initializes from a practical physical problem (membrane-substrate interaction) and then ends up as a series of complex mathematical problems (e.g., differential geometry, PDEs), which indicates the great power of mathematics and human wisdom. The highest difficulties in this thesis are the solving of the membrane shape equations and the plotting of the obtained solutions because they all contain the computations among a number of long functions and complicated terms. To overcome these difficulties, we develop our own solving strategies and utilize a series of accessible computing resources.

In chapter two, we present the prerequisite knowledge of differential geometry and develop the underlying theoretical model of inviscid fluid membrane for further researches on the intra-membrane viscosity. By combining the theory of elastic surfaces, the membrane equilibrium equations and the corresponding projections on normal and tangential directions are formulated via rigorous derivations. The deformation energy of the membrane is accounted for by means of the Mean and Gaussian curvatures of the surface which are the functions of the first and second fundamental forms.

In chapter three, we study the deformations of lipid bilayers subjected to the

intra-membrane viscous flows and the interactions of elliptical cylinder substrates. Utilizing the Monge parameterization of a surface and general curvilinear coordinates, the expressions of linearized shape equations and associated boundary conditions are obtained from the non-linear theory. The intra-membrane viscosity terms are formulated by means of 'admissible linearization' and successively transformed into elliptical coordinates to assimilate more general types of viscous flow. More importantly, we obtained a complete analytic solution by employing adapted iterative reduction and the method of eigenfunction expansion, which describes the deformations of lipid membranes when interacting with intra-membrane viscous flows and elliptical-cross-section substrates. It is found that intra-membrane viscosity induces wrinkle formations of the lipid membranes, and the corresponding number of wrinkles exhibits sensitivity to both the radius of the ellipse and the intensity of viscous flows. Comparisons with phenomenologically compatible cases such as a circular substrate-membrane interaction and capillary wrinkle of polymer films, are made where the proposed model successfully reproduces the existed results in the limit of vanishing eccentricity of an ellipse. Further, we obtain solutions corresponding to the case of a lipid membrane subjected to nonuniform viscous flows and dual source flows. This is facilitated by the relaxed form of the prescribed tangential and normal force, and the condition of continuity along and within the elliptical boundaries, unlike those arising in circular boundaries where the admissible set of viscous flows are strictly uniform in one of the coordinate directions. The resulting deformation fields show clear signs of dual source interference in that both the radial and circumferential wave forms are simultaneously predicted. Case studies vis a vis morphologically similar results of shape memory films are presented to investigate the potential applicabilities of the proposed model in the analysis of different types of membranes. In particular, it is found that the principles of superposition from linear elasticity remains valid, even in the presence of general forms of dual source viscous potentials. That is, the solution of a dual source problem can be directly obtained by adding solutions of two single source problems. The solutions presented here are of more practical interest in that, essentially, they lead to solutions of problems in which the viscosity effects are characterized by a wide class of potential functions and so can accommodate a correspondingly large set of physically relevant problems. For example, potential applications may be expected in the study of wrinkle-caused disease (e.g., a macular epiretinal membrane) and the influences of membrane viscosity on various cellular functions such as fusion, fission and budding. Further, the presented solution reproduces the existing results when viscosity effects are removed, and does incorporate the solution of the classical membrane-substrate interaction problem in the limit of vanishing eccentricity. In fact, the classical solution obtained directly from the proposed model produces more accurate predictions by identifying the additional Bessel functions, which is reduced from the Mathieu potentials.

In chapter four, we develop a theoretical model of lipid membranes subjected to intra-membrane viscous flows, interactions of elliptical-cross-section substrates and thickness distensions. Starting from the purely elastic surface theory, we introduce the distension terms and new energy density functions and implement them in the following derivations. Rigorous derivations are made to obtain the membrane shape equations and the corresponding boundary conditions. Then, we employ the admissible linearization techniques for the systems of membrane shape equations and boundary conditions and transform them into the elliptical domain. Lastly, by employing adapted iterative reduction and the method of eigenfunction expansion, we solve the systems of equations (membrane shape equations and boundary conditions) and obtain the corresponding analytical solutions in the forms of Mathieu functions.

We discover that the viscous flow gives rise to the wrinkle phenomena of the lipid membranes. The membrane systems may be exposed to the constant viscous flow (viscous flow potential $w(\xi, \eta) = A$) within a cell such as the selective transport of molecules inside the lipid bilayers where the molecules travel with the constant flow from one side of the membrane to the objective protein. In this case, we find that the wrinkling phenomenon in the radial direction of the membrane starts to appear when the normalized magnitude of viscous flow is greater than the critical number (i.e. $\frac{A\nu}{\lambda} \geq 10^{-15}$). The number of radial wrinkles is sensitive to the magnitude of intra-membrane viscous flow (A) and the radius of the inner ellipse (μc). In detail, the number of radial wrinkles is positively correlated with the intra-membrane viscous flows (A) and the radius of the inner ellipse (μc). With the identical radius of the inner ellipse (μc), the number of wrinkles reduces as the magnitude of viscous flow (A) decreases. The number of wrinkles increases as the inner radius of the inner ellipse (μc) increases when the magnitude of the viscous flow (A) remains the same. Phenomenologically compatible results can be found in the related researches such as circular substrate-membrane interactions, capillary wrinkles on thin polymer films and theoretical study on an elastic surface, where the number of radial wrinkles depends upon the size of the inner radius and membrane thickness. The proposed model successfully reproduces the reported results under the physically similar/compatible settings (see Figs. 3.4 and 3.5).

The cases of non-uniform viscous flows (when the viscous flow potential $w(\xi, \eta) = A \sin \xi \cos \eta$) can be observed in various cellular activities such as the transportations of the intracellular membranes and the transmembrane proteins induced by the viscous flows with tension gradient. In this case, the viscous flow field becomes non-uniform due to the interactions with the tension gradient field. Similar to the constant viscous cases, the resulting deformation fields (radial wave deformations) are sensitive to both the dimension of an inner ellipse (μc) and the intensity of viscous flow (A); i.e., the amount of waves decreases as A drops from 10^{-5} to 10^{-7} (See. Fig. 3.6). But, more importantly, the transverse wave deformations of the membrane and the corresponding vertical deflections die out as they approach the remote boundary, which ensures the intactness and stabilization of the corresponding boundary conditions (see. Fig. 3.7). In the event of vanishing A, the wave deformations are completely removed from the entire domain of interest so that the vertical deformation profile reduces to the reported results (see. Fig. 3.7). Also, Fig. 3.8. shows that the obtained solution accommodates the reported results of circular substrate-membrane interaction problems when the eccentricity converges to zero (i.e. $e \to 0$).

When the viscous flow potential $w(\xi, \eta) = A + A \sin \xi \cos \eta$, we find that both the radial and circumferential wave patterns are simultaneously observed (see. Fig. 3.9). Morphologically similar cases are reported in the existed works where the authors examined the wrinkle phenomena of a thin gold layer (10 nm in thickness) when subjected to thermal stresses from the adjoined polymer substrate. The results in Fig. 3.9 further indicates that the principle of superposition remains valid in the present cases. The principle is widely adopted in various engineering problems with simple initial and/or boundary value problems of either first (Dirichlet) or second (Neumann) type.

The results obtained in this thesis are of more practical interest in that, when used in conjunction with the principle of superposition (see. Remark. 2.), they essentially lead to the solution of a class of problems in which the viscous effects are characterized by a much wider and more realistic class of functions. Potential applications may be extended to retina clinical study of wrinkle-caused vision impairment and the effects of viscous flows on essential cellular functions such as fusion, fission and vesicle formation. For example, the idiopathic epiretinal membranes (iERMs) is a common pathology which have been observed in more than 20% of eyes from elderly person. When iERMs are thicker with contractile properties, they cause surface wrinkling of the retina resulting impaired vision (a macular epiretinal membrane). Such wrinkle formations are most often induced by the interactions between the posterior vitreous cortex and the retina. Since nearly all the emmetropic retinas are oblate in shape in both transverse axial and sagittal sections, the wrinkle formations on the retina may share close similarity to the elliptical membrane-substrate systems examined by the proposed model. In addition, wrinkle involved deformations and the directional elongation of the vesicle are often caused by the viscous shear flows and/or directional viscous flows. Therefore, the proposed model may be employed to study the morphological transitions of cell membranes associated with those cellular activities.

5.2 Future Work

The proposed model can accommodate more terms regarding different cellular activities to provide more general and precise descriptions of lipid membranes. For example, we can consider analyzing the deformations of the lipid membranes concurrently affected by cell buddings, intra-membrane non-uniform viscous flows, large-scale interactions and thickness distensions. Ideally, we can extend this model to simultaneously accommodate all the main cellular activities such that the predictions for the morphologies of the lipid membranes will be very realistic and accurate. Further, various nonlinear analysis techniques (e.g., finite element method, numerical method) can be employed to generate more accurate results within the framework of the proposed model. Lastly, we can add more general structures of cell membranes (e.g., the embedded proteins, glycolipid, cholesterol) into the analysis of the proposed model.

Bibliography

- Peate, I., & Nair, M. Anatomy and Physiology for Nurses at a Glance. John Wiley & Sons. (2015).
- [2] Boundless. Boundless Biology. *Lumen*, courses.lumenlearning.com/boundlessbiology/chapter/components-and-structure/.
- [3] Andersen, Olaf S., and Roger E. Koeppe. Bilayer thickness and membrane protein function: an energetic perspective. Annu. Rev. Biophys. Biomol. Struct. 36 (2007).
- [4] Templeton, N. S. Gene and cell therapy: therapeutic mechanisms and strategies. Crc Press, 2008.
- [5] OpenStax College. Anatomy and physiology. Rice University, 2013.
- [6] Brown, T. A. Rapid Review Physiology E-Book: With Student Consult Online Access. Elsevier Health Sciences. (2016).
- [7] Belghiti, J., & Jarnagin, W. R. (Eds.). Blumgart's surgery of the liver, biliary tract, and pancreas. Elsevier. (2017).

- [8] Mitchell, B. Cell and Molecular Biology. Scientific e-Resources. (2019).
- [9] Welcome, M. O. Gastrointestinal Physiology. Springer: Basel, Switzerland. 53-219 (2018).
- [10] Russell, Peter J., et al. Biology: Exploring the Diversity of Life. Nelson, 2019.
- [11] Qin, Z. H., & Le, W. D. Autophagy: biology and diseases. (2011).
- [12] Helfrich, W. Elastic properties of lipid bilayers: theory and possible experiments. Z. Naturforsch. 28, 693–703 (1973).
- [13] Evance, E. A. & Skalak, R. Mechanics and thermodynamics of bio membranes. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL (1980).
- [14] Secomb, T. W. & Skalak, R. Surface flow of viscoelastic membranes in viscous fluids. Q. J. Mech. Appl. Math. 35, 233–247 (1982).
- [15] Seifert, U. Configurations of fluid membranes and vesicles. Adv Phys. 46(1), 13–137 (1997).
- [16] Jaric, M., Seifert, U., Wintz, W. & Wortis, M. Vesicular instabilities: the prolate-to-oblate transition and other shape instabilities of fluid bilayer membranes. *Phys. Rev. E* 52, 6623 (1995).
- [17] Naghdi, P. M. On a variational theorem in elasticity and its application to shell theory. J. Appl. Mech. 31(4), 647–653 (1964).

- [18] Naghdi P.M. The Theory of Shells and Plates. In: Truesdell C. (eds) Linear Theories of Elasticity and Thermoelasticity. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (1973).
- [19] Agrawal, A., Steigmann, D. J. Coexistent fluid-phase equilibria in biomembranes with bending elasticity. J. Elast. 93(1), 63–80 (2008).
- [20] Agrawal, A., Steigmann, D. J. Boundary-Value Problems in the Theory of Lipid Membranes. Contin. Mech. Thermodyn. 21(1), 57-82 (2009).
- [21] Kim, C. I., Steigmann, D. J. Distension-induced gradient capillarity in lipid membranes. *Contin. Mech. Thermodyn.* 27(4-5), 609-621 (2014).
- [22] Belay, T., Kim, C. I. & Schiavone, P. Analytical Solution of Lipid Membrane Morphology Subjected to Boundary Forces on the Edges of Rectangular Membrane. *Continuum. Mech. Therm.* 28(1–2), 305–315 (2015).
- [23] Rangamani, P. & Steigmann, D. J. Variable tilt on lipid membranes. Proc.
 Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 470(2172), 20140463 (2014).
- [24] Belay, T., Kim, C. I. & Schiavone, P. Mechanics of lipid bilayer subjected to thickness distension and membrane budding. *Math. Mech. Solids.* 23(1), 67-84 (2016).

- [25] Belay, T., Kim, C. I. & Schiavone, P. Budding formation of lipid membranes in response to the surface diffusion of transmembrane proteins and line tension. *Math. Mech. Solids.* 22(11), 2091-2107 (2016).
- [26] Belay, T., Kim, C. I. & Schiavone, P. Interaction-induced morphological transitions of lipid membranes in contact with an elliptical cross section of a rigid substrate. J. Appl. Mech. ASME. 83(1), 011001 (2016).
- [27] Zeidi, M., & Kim, C. I. Notes on superposed incremental deformations in the mechanics of lipid membranes. *Math. Mech. Solids.* 24(1), 181-194 (2019).
- [28] Kim, C. I. A discussion on the mechanics of lipid membranes: Lagrange multipliers and a singular substrate. Z. Ange. Math. Phys. 68(4), 84 (2017).
- [29] Chernomrdik, L. & Kozlov, M. Mechanics of membrane fusion. Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol. 15, 675–683 (2008).
- [30] Lenz, M., Morlot, S. & Roux, A. Mechanical requirements for membrane fission: common facts from various examples. *FEBS Lett.* 583, 3839–3846 (2009).
- [31] Bruinsma, R. & Pincus, P. Protein Aggregation in Membranes. Curr. Opin. Solid State Mater. Sci. 1(3), 401–406 (1996).
- [32] Benedict, J. R. et al. Aggregation and Vesiculation of Membrane Proteins by Curvature-Mediated Interactions. *Nature* 447(7143), 461–464 (2007).

- [33] Arroyo, M. & DeSimone, A. Relaxation dynamics of fluid membranes. *Phys. Rev. E* 79(031915), 1–17 (2009).
- [34] Rangamani, P., Agrawal, A., Mandadapu, K. K., Oster, G. & Steigmann, D.
 J. Interaction between surface shape and intra-surface viscous flow on lipid membranes. *Biomech. Model Mechanobiol.* 12(4), 833–845 (2013).
- [35] Steigmann, D. J. Fluid films with curvature elasticity. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 150, 127–52 (1999).
- [36] Steigmann, D. J. On the relationship between the Cosserat and Kirchhoff– Love theories of elastic shells. *Math. Mech. Solids.* 4, 275–288 (1999b).
- [37] Zeidi, M. & Kim, C. I. The effects of intra-membrane viscosity on lipid membrane morphology: complete analytical solution. *Sci. Rep.* 8(1), 12845 (2018).
- [38] Steigmann, D. J. A model for lipid membranes with tilt and distension based on three-dimensional liquid crystal theory. Int. J. Non-Linear Mech. 56, 61– 70 (2013)
- [39] Kim, C. I., & Steigmann, D. J. Distension-induced gradient capillarity in lipid membranes. *Continuum. Mech. Therm.* 27(4-5), 609-621 (2015).
- [40] Gorter, E. & Grendel, F. On Bimolecular Layers of Lipoids on the Chromocytes of the Blood. J. Exp. Med. 41(4), 439–443 (1925).

- [41] Robertson, J. D. The ultrastructure of cell membranes and their derivatives. Biochem. Soc. Symp. 16, 3–43 (1959).
- [42] Kim, C. I. and Zeidi, M. Gradient elasticity theory for fiber composites with fbers resistant to extension and fexure. Int. J. Eng. 131, 80–99 (2018).
- [43] Zeidi, M. and Kim, C. I. Mechanics of an elastic solid reinforced with bidirectional fber in fnite plane elastostatics: complete analysis. *Continuum. Mech. Term.* **30**(3), 573–592 (2018).
- [44] Zeidi, M. and Kim, C. I. Finite plane deformations of elastic solids reinforced with fibers resistant to flexure: complete solution. Arch. Appl. Mech. 88(5), 819–835 (2018).
- [45] Zeidi, M. and Kim, C. I. Mechanics of fiber composites with fibers resistant to extension and flexure. *Math. Mech. Solids.* 24(1), 3–17 (2019).
- [46] Sokolnikoff, I. S. Tensor Analysis: Theory and Applications. (Wiley, New York, 1951).
- [47] Read, W. Series solution for laplace equation with nonhomogenious mixed boundary conditions and irregualr boundaries. *Math. Comput. Model.* 17, 9–19 (1993).

- [48] Read, W. W. Analytical solutions for a helmholtz equation with dirichlet boundary conditions and arbitrary boundaries. *Math. Comput. Model.* 24(2), 23–34 (1996).
- [49] Huang, Yan & Zhang, Xiao-Jin. General analytical solution of transverse vibration for orthotropic rectangular thin plates. J. Marine. Sci. and Appl. 1(2), 78–82 (2002).
- [50] Huang, J. et al. Capillary wrinkling of floating thin polymer films. Science 317(5838), 650–653 (2007).
- [51] Zhao, Y., Huang, W. M. & Fu, Y. Q. Formation of micro/nano-scale wrinkling patterns atop shape memory polymers. J. Micromech. Microeng. 21(6), 067007 (2011).
- [52] Joshi, M., Agrawal, S. & Christoforidis, J. B. Inflammatory mechanisms of idiopathic epiretinal membrane formation. *Mediators Inflamm.* 2013 (2013).
- [53] Cerda, E. & Mahadevan, L. Geometry and physics of wrinkling. *Phys. Rev.* lett. 90(7), 074302 (2003).
- [54] Aris, R. Vectors, Tensors and the Basic Equations of Fluid Mechanics. (Dover, N.Y., 1989).
- [55] Scriven, L. E. Dynamics of a fluid interface equation of motion for Newtonian surface fluids. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* 12(2), 98–108 (1960).

- [56] Steigmann, D. J., Baesu, E., Rudd, R. E., Belak, J. & McElfresh, M. On the variational theory of cell-membrane equilibria. *Interface Free Bound.* 5, 357–366 (2003).
- [57] Kukla, Stanisław. Green's function for vibration problems of an elliptical membrane. J. Appl. Math. Comput. Mech. 10(2), 129-134 (2011).
- [58] McLachlan, N. W. Theory and Application of Mathieu Functions. Clarendon Press, Oxford (1947).
- [59] Cooper GM. The Cell: A Molecular Approach. 2nd edition. Sunderland (MA): Sinauer Associates; (2000).
- [60] Hochmuth, R. M. & Waugh, R. E. Erythrocyte membrane elasticity and viscosity. Ann. Rev. Physiol. 49, 209–19 (1987).
- [61] Derenyi, I., Julicher, F. & Prost, J. Formation and interaction of membrane tubes. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 88(23), 238101 (2002).
- [62] Steigmann, D. J. Tension-field theory. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 429, 141–73 (1990).
- [63] Goodbrake, C., & Steigmann, D. J. Mechanics of an elastic membrane infused with a liquid. Int. J. Mech. Sci. 149, 487-493 (2018).
- [64] Fogelson, B. & Mogilner, A. Computational estimation of membrane flow and tension gradient in motile cell, PLos One, 9(1), e84524 (2014).

- [65] Gurtin, M. E. & Murdoch, A. I. A Continuum Theory of Elastic Material Surfaces. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 57(4). 291–323 (1975).
- [66] Gurtin, M. E., Weissmuller, J. & Larche, F. A General Theory of Curved Deformable Interface in Solids at Equilibrium. *Philos. Mag. A* 78(5), 1093– 1109 (1998)
- [67] Ferreira, E. Rodrigues. & Ph Boulanger. Superposition of transverse and longitudinal finite-amplitude waves in a deformed Blatz—Ko Material. Math. Mech. Solids. 12(5), 543-558 (2007).
- [68] Karayaka, M. & P. Kurath. Deformation and failure behavior of woven composite laminates. J. Eng. Mater-T ASME 116(2), 222-232 (1994)
- [69] Delale, F. & F. Erdogan. Transverse shear effect in a circumferentially cracked cylindrical shell. Q. Appl. Math. 37(3), 239-258 (1979).
- [70] Muskhelishvili N. I. Some Basic Problems of the Mathematical Theory of Elasticity, P. Noordhoff, Groningen, The Netherlands, (1953).
- [71] Walter, A., Heinz, R. & Herbert. Shear induced deformation of microcapsules: shape oscillations and membrane folding. *Colloids Surf. A: Physicochem. Eng. Asp.* 183, 123–132 (2001).

- [72] Kantsler, V, Enrico S, & Victor, S. Vesicle dynamics in time-dependent elongation flow: Wrinkling instability. *Physical review letters* **99**(17), 178102 (2007).
- [73] Roth, A. M. Surface wrinkling retinopathy in eyes enucleated at autopsy. Trans. Am. Acad. Ophthalmol. Otolaryngol. 75, 1047-1058 (1971).
- [74] Kampik, A. N. S. E. L. M., et al. Ultrastructural features of progressive idiopathic epiretinal membrane removed by vitreous surgery. Am. J. Ophthalmol. 90(6), 797-809 (1980).
- [75] Sebag, J. Anomalous posterior vitreous detachment: a unifying concept in vitreo-retinal disease. *Graefe's archive Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol.* 242(8), 690-698 (2004).
- [76] Atchison, D. A. et al. Shape of the retinal surface in emmetropia and myopia.
 Investig. Ophthalmol. & Vis. Sci. 46(8), 2698–2707 (2005).
- [77] Agrawal, A. and Steigmann, D. J. A model for surface diffusion of transmembrane proteins on lipid bilayers. Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 62(3), 549 (2011).
- [78] Belay, T. Continuum-based Modeling and Analysis of Lipid Membranes induced by Cellular Function. (2016).

Appendix A. Copyright Demonstration

Figure 1.1 and Figure 1.2 are taken from OpenStax College. Anatomy and physiology. Rice University, 2013., which obeys the Creative Commons Attribution License 4.0. The usages of these figures in this thesis are permitted. The sources of Figure 1.1 and Figure 1.2 are respectively Figure 3.4 and Figure 3.10 from https://openstax.org/books/anatomy-and-physiology/pages/3-1-the-cell-membrane.